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Friday, May 26, 2006


‑‑‑ Upon commencing at 9:00 a.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Good morning.  Please be seated.  Good morning, everyone.  Today is day 3 of the hearing of application RP-2005‑0520 submitted by Union Gas Limited for an order or orders approving or fixing rates, and other charges for the sale, distribution, transmission and storage of gas in their fiscal year 2007.


Today we'll continue with the examination of Union's panel on rates, followed by intervenor panels.


Mr. Crockford is on the telephone again today, just to let parties know that.


Before we begin, are there any preliminary matters?


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MR. SMITH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  There are two preliminary matters.  Union has been able to answer two undertakings, these being undertakings U2.1 and U2.4, which were questions asked first by Mr. Dingwall of Ms. Piett to provide the monthly consumption for the average customer in a pay‑as‑you‑go scenario, and of Mr. Kitchen to provide the percentage increase due to change in storage and due to the split between the M1 and M2 rates.  So we have those and we have distributed them to the parties.


I understand that we will be delivering undertakings sort of throughout the day, as we return from breaks.  And I think we will have all of them, with the exception of Mr. Thompson's request, by the end of the day, so the parties will have them for consideration over the weekend to prepare for argument.


MS. NOWINA:  Good.  Thank you, Mr. Smith.


MR. SMITH:  The only other matter that I believe I should draw to the Board's attention is the ordering of intervenor evidence in this matter.  I suppose we had been operating under the assumption, I think everybody until yesterday, Mr. Adams would be going first, followed by Mr. Chernick.  I understand Mr. Chernick has a flight to catch, and so he will be going immediately following the rate design panel and we will deal with Mr. Adams second.


MS. NOWINA:  I think that will work out fine.  We will stay on the same topic for a while, so that works fine.  Thank you.


MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. DeVellis, I believe you're next up.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Yes.  Before I begin, I handed out a document to Mr. Smith and Mr. Millar this morning, which is an excerpt from one of our IR responses.  The pages aren't numbered, so rather than have everybody try to find it in a pile of pages, I thought I would copy it and have it available.


The evidence referenced is J21.27, and they're pages 71 and 72 of 78.


MS. NOWINA:  Now, Mr. DeVellis, I think you should have someone my age read your exhibits before you file them, or have Mr. Thompson help you.


MR. DeVELLIS:  I would apologize, Madam Chair.  Unfortunately, I didn't prepare the document.


[Laughter]


MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, would you like an exhibit number for that?  It's already on the record, but I don't see any harm ‑‑


MS. NOWINA:  Has it been filed in this case?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.  It is just an excerpt for ease of reference.


MS. NOWINA:  I don't think we need one.  He gave us a reference.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. SMITH:  I'm sorry, I actually missed the reference.


MR. DeVELLIS:  It is J21.27, pages 71 and 72 of 78.  The pages aren't actually numbered in the paper copies.  They're numbered in the Adobe file, so that is where the page numbers come from.


MS. NOWINA:  Go ahead, Mr. DeVellis.


UNION GAS LIMITED - PANEL 2; RESUMED:


Russell A. Feingold; Previously Sworn.


Mark Kitchen; Previously Sworn.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DeVELLIS:

MR. DeVELLIS:  Good morning, panel.  The first portion I have is in regard to your response to undertaking 2.4.


You have four tables here.


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.


MR. DeVELLIS:  I wonder if you can just explain what they are and what the differences are between the tables.


MR. KITCHEN:  The first two tables show the impact, at various rate levels, of Union's proposed changes to the M1 rate class or proposed introduction of the M1 rate class relative to the existing M2 rate class, both with storage and without storage, based on the ADR settlement.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  So this is an update to the table that appears in the IR response?


MR. KITCHEN:  That is correct.  The second two tables to the -- make a similar comparison, but for the new M2 class, also based on the ADR.


MR. DeVELLIS:  All right, thank you.  The last table?


MR. KITCHEN:  There's two tables for each rate class, so one table will be with storage, which is the bill impact, and that is what we designed for the rate, in terms of the rate, and that's what the customer will see.


Mr. Warren asked for us to break ‑‑ to take storage out of the equation.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay, thank you.  Now, Mr. Feingold, can you tell me, firstly, when Navigant was first retained to do the rate study?


MR. FEINGOLD:  I believe it was in the March or April time frame of 2005.


MR. DeVELLIS:  And was that when the RFP was first issued or when you were actually retained?


MR. FEINGOLD:  I believe the RFP was issued in the March time frame.  I don't have the precise date in front of me.


MR. DeVELLIS:  But you would have been retained shortly thereafter?


MR. FEINGOLD:  I believe late March or early April, in that time frame.


MR. DeVELLIS:  When did you begin your work?


MR. FEINGOLD:  We began our work probably in the mid April time frame.


MR. DeVELLIS:  And when was your study completed?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Well, the study has a date on it of December 5th, 2005.


MR. DeVELLIS:  So that's when it was completed?


MR. FEINGOLD:  That's correct.


MR. DeVELLIS:  And do you know approximately how many hours you or anyone at Navigant, in total, would have spent preparing your study?


MR. FEINGOLD:  I don't have that information readily available.  I would have to go back to records to look at that.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Can you give us an approximate number?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Well, I can tell you that from the time that we started work in April till the December 5th date, it was not a full-time effort or even close to that.


There was a more intense level of effort early on, and then there was a period of time where there was no work going on.  So it wasn't a full-time effort.  I just couldn't venture a guess at this point.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Can you tell us how much Navigant was paid to do the study?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Again, I don't have the number in front of me.  I would have to get that.


MR. DeVELLIS:  I wonder if I can get an undertaking, then, for those two items that I just mentioned, the number of hours and how much Navigant was paid.


MR. SMITH:  Yes, we can provide that information, I believe, subject to the witness' ability to get it.  


MS. NOWINA:  Are there any confidentiality issues around that?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Well, I am concerned about that, Madam Chair.  If we can provide it in total dollars as opposed to getting into billing rates, and things like that, I think that would give me further comfort.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, I'm only interested in the total dollars.


MS. NOWINA:  So it would include the hours, then, or just the fees?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, the number of hours, but not necessarily the billing rates.


MS. NOWINA:  Well, you can do the math, Mr. DeVellis.


MR. DeVELLIS:  I suppose.  That's fine, then.


MS. NOWINA:  The dollars?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes, thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  That's undertaking ‑‑


MR. SCHUCH:  That will be undertaking U3.1.


UNDERTAKING NO. U3.1:  PROVIDE TOTAL COST OF NAVIGANT 
STUDY

MR. DeVELLIS:  During the preparation of your study, what sort of contact would you have had with people at Union?


MR. FEINGOLD:  The contact began with an initiation meeting in Union's offices in Chatham, where we confirmed the scope of the project, discussed which members of Union's staff would be providing data to Navigant, and started discussing the nature of the data that we would require to conduct the study.  

     Then after that initial meeting, we had periodic telephone conversations to review data that was provided, and to better understand the nature of the data and to provide periodic progress reports to Union on how our work was progressing.  

     MR. DeVELLIS:  I take it then if you had questions about the data or if you needed more information, you would be able to call someone at Union to ask them?  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes.  We had the availability to do that.   

    MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.  Now, if I could direct you to page 1 of your report.  That's at Exhibit H2, tab 1, I guess.  Under scope of review, at the bottom of page 1, you say: 

“It was NCI's understanding that the independent review should be structured to,” the second bullet point, “determine whether or not there is any justification for splitting the rate class on a volumetric basis between small-volume customers and large-volume customers currently served within the M2 rate class.”  

     I take it, then, that it was never your intention to determine whether a split other than on a volumetric basis was most appropriate.     

     MR. FEINGOLD:  No.  I think as the report indicates, we did consider using end use as a basis, where we talk about the option dealing with a separate residential class and the reasons why we rejected that option.  

     MR. DeVELLIS:  You don't set that out in terms of the scope of your review, though.  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  No.  But as I said yesterday, we started with a clean slate, looking at the range of possibilities from maintaining one class for all customers, to having one class for each customer.  And the variations in between.  

     MR. DeVELLIS:  I'm going to direct you now to page 26 of your report, and I'm not going to read specifically.  I'm just going to paraphrase what the points you make there.  

     You can correct me if I misinterpreted what you said.  The conclusion of your analysis on load characteristics of the M2 class.  Page 25.  

     MR. SMITH:  This is page 25?  Sorry?  

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Page 25 and 26.  The first point that you make is that the difference in customer size alone is not a justification for splitting the M2 rate; is that fair?       

MR. FEINGOLD:  I see that statement.  

     MR. DeVELLIS:  And the other point that you make is that the size can affect customer costs, but can be dealt with in rate design without splat splitting the rate class.  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes.  That is one possibility or one option to address that.  

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.  And in the last or last point that I will summarize is, if size influence was load factor, it can drive differences in demand-related costs and if the differences are material, it would have to be dealt with through blocking or splitting the M2 class.  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  Correct.  

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.  I want to ask, first of all, your analysis of a load factor.  I know you had some discussion with Mr. Warren -- pardon me, with Mr. Smith yesterday about this issue.  

     Specifically, the decision to use average February 

consumption as I guess the denominator in your load factor 

analysis.  So as a proxy for peak consumption.  

     What you say at the top of page 24 of your report is:   

Although this estimating method tends to drive higher absolute load factors than those computed from actual demand data, NCI viewed this as a reasonable approach since only relative load factors among within the subclasses were required.     

     I'm going to step back for a second now.  The reason for using -- the method you use produces a lower load factor is you used an average temperature for February instead of the peak temperature; is that right?  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  Well, I didn't directly use a temperature in calculating. 

     MR. DeVELLIS:  I'm sorry, consumption for February.  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  No.  I didn't use a temperature to calculate the peak day.  All I was trying to do was to align the February consumption and restate it on a daily basis with the annual consumption that occurred in either 2003 or 2004.  

     MR. DeVELLIS:  I beg your pardon.  I meant consumption.  So you used the average February consumption rather than the peak consumption for February?  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  Correct.  Because the peak consumption for February, by customer, was not available.  

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.  And you've had some discussion with Mr. Smith yesterday in response to Mr. Chernick's criticisms on that point.  And your reply basically was that Union's customers are heat sensitive, and February being the coldest month, I'm quoting from page 109 of yesterday's transcript:  

“The use of February month is an appropriate basis for developing load factor in this case.”  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes, I recall that.  

     MR. DeVELLIS:  But you do say though, if you just turn to page 25, that residential customers are more heat sensitive than other customer classes.  If you look for example at the end of the first full paragraph, page 25.  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  You're saying starting with the sentence: 

“In contrast, larger residential customers typically consuming approximately 2600 cubic metres per year use gas primarily for space heating, have a relatively low load factor due to the high degree of temperature sensitivity.”  

     So there I was talking about larger residential customers. 

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Right.  But would you agree residential 

customers generally have a higher heat sensitivity than other customer classes?  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  I would agree with that, although in some commercial classes, you can have a high degree of heat sensitivity as well.  

     MR. DeVELLIS:  So if you're using the average consumption for February as opposed to the peak, it's not just the absolute levels that could be affected.  The relative load factors between the subclasses could also be affected because some classes are more heat sensitive than others.  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  I don't believe it can be affected materially by virtue of the fact that, for a gas utility like Union, there's a high degree of coincidence.  So that all of the rate classes experience the peak in the same month, that is February.  

     So I don't believe that your premise is correct in 

suggesting that there is a variation due to that, material 

variation.  

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, you also say at the bottom of page 24 that there's a direct correlation between the size of a customer and that customer's annual load factor; that's at the bottom of page 24, going on to page 25.  

     Can you turn to Undertaking J21.27, page 10 of 12.  This was a response to an interrogatory from my client, School Energy Coalition.  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  I have it.  

     MR. DeVELLIS:  What you say there, the second paragraph, under paragraph Q, page 10, beginning with the second sentence.  I'll wait for the panel.   

     MS. NOWINA:  We turned up the interrogatory, Mr. DeVellis.  Can you give us the page again?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes, it's page 10.


MS. NOWINA:  Thanks.


MR. DeVELLIS:  And it's paragraph Q.


MS. NOWINA:  Thanks.


MR. DeVELLIS:  It's the second paragraph under paragraph Q, beginning with the second sentence, "For example".  What you say there is:

"For example, the criteria of annual use and use per customer in each of the rate sub-classes was a primary consideration because it directly impacted the degree of homogeneity achieved in each of the two new rate classes."


This is the next sentence, the one I want to ask you about:

"On the other hand, the annual load factors by sub-class and by consumption tier in the current M2 rate class was considered a less important factor simply because over the range of alternative break points there was not a material variation in load factors to warrant strongly different preferences."


Do you see that there?


MR. FEINGOLD:  I do.


MR. DeVELLIS:  So the average use per customer and annual use within the class was a primary determinant of the 50,000 break point, then?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Well, it was a primary determinant in the 50,000 cubic metre breakpoint, but I would say, more broadly, a primary determinant in evaluating some of the other break points by virtue of the fact that, if you look at chart 5 on page 39 of my report, across the various break points that we reviewed, including the 50,000 cubic metre break point that was recommended, there was not material variation in the annual load factor across rate M2.


So it wasn't that load factor wasn't an important consideration.  It was just that, for purposes of establishing the break point, there was not the material variation that you would see relative to average use per customer, and so it wasn't as critical a consideration as the annual use was.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, I take it, then, that splitting the class by volume didn't result in a greater homogeneity in terms of load factor?


MR. FEINGOLD:  I believe there was a slight improvement, and the reason I say that is, again, if you look at chart 5, if you look at the bars to the left of that vertical line, you can see what now represents the new rate 1 has a fairly consistent load factor across the range of consumption.


If you look to the right of that vertical line, you can see that there is still variation in the new rate M2, not surprisingly, because you still have some diversity in customer types, but it is reduced relative to what the entire chart represented before for rate M2.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, can I take you to appendix E of your study?


MR. FEINGOLD:  I have it.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Here we have annual load factors by volumetric tier broken up by residential and commercial and industrial, 2003 and 2004.


If you start with a volume of, say, 14,000 for the residential sub-class - that's the top chart on the first page of appendix E - you see that the load factor for that consumption level for residential customer is approximately 50 percent.  Do you see that there?


MR. FEINGOLD:  I would agree with that.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, same consumption for commercial customer on the bottom chart is slightly over 40 percent.  Do you see that there?


MR. FEINGOLD:  I see that there.


MR. DeVELLIS:  If you stay with that chart, the commercial customer's load factor wouldn't approach 50 percent until approximately 210,000 cubic metres a year.  


MR. FEINGOLD:  I see that.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Then on the next page, an industrial customer with a 14,000 cubic metre consumption has a load factor of well below 40 percent.  


MR. FEINGOLD:  I see that.


MR. DeVELLIS:  All of these customers will be in the same rate class, in your new rate class.  They would all be under M1.


MR. FEINGOLD:  Correct, but just as a point of clarification, these graphs do not reflect individual customer load factors.  They reflect aggregate load factors across each of these end-use categories for the consumption that occurs in aggregate within the particular volume ranges that appear on the axis of the graph.


MR. DeVELLIS:  As does ‑‑ sorry, as does your chart on page 39?


MR. FEINGOLD:  That's correct, but when you compile the data to develop the chart on page 39, you are aggregating different levels of consumption at different volumetric ranges, and that creates an aggregate change in load factor relative to the individual end-use graphs we're looking at here.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Did you analyze the data to see if separating the classes by end use would produce greater homogeneity in load factor than did the way you've done it with the M1 and M2 split?


MR. FEINGOLD:  No, we did not.  The only aspect related to end use that we reviewed, as the report indicates, was to evaluate the reasonableness of splitting out residential as a separate class.


And as I think I indicated in the report, there were reasons why we rejected that option.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, I'm just going to go back for a second to my questions about the residential sub-class and just back to page 25 for a second.  I apologize for jumping around.


What you say at the top of the first full paragraph is, with respect to the residential sub-class, second sentence:  

"This sub-class is relatively homogenous compared to the other two sub-classes, especially with regard to its limited end uses for natural gas."


Do you see that there?


MR. FEINGOLD:  I see that.


MR. DeVELLIS:  And could that explain why the majority, the overall majority of the utilities that you studied, have a separate class for residential customers?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Well, I'm not sure I could characterize the results of our survey as the overwhelming majority.  I think there were roughly 20 percent of the utilities that we reviewed that did not have separate residential rates across North America.  But with that characterization, it is my professional judgment that the reason the utilities that do have residential rates as separate classes have that is more for social and political reasons, where the parties involved in the rate design process look to factors other than cost for purposes of setting the level of revenues in the class and the particular rate structure within the class.


MR. DeVELLIS:  The other major gas utility in Ontario, Enbridge Gas Distribution, also has a separate residential class?


MR. FEINGOLD:  That's my understanding.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.  I'm going to refer back to J21.27.  If you don't have it open, I don't think you have to flip it open again.  But you have identified, in that response, that annual use and use per customer as directly impacting homogeneity.


MR. FEINGOLD:  Well, I didn't indicate that it directly impacted.  I indicated that it was a measure of achieving the degree of homogeneity that we were seeking.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay, thank you.  Getting back to my earlier questions regarding the conclusions of your analysis of the load factor, one of the points that you made was that size alone would not justify splitting of the class, absent a showing that size causes material differences in the cost of serving customers that 

could only be addressed through a splitting of the rate class.  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes, I recall that.  

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Well, how do you reconcile those two points?  Because on the one hand you seem to be saying that you've concluded, based on size, that you now have a more homogenous load characteristics, but what you also said is size alone wouldn't justify splitting the rate class.  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  Correct.  And the way that that is reconciled is the way that the process preceded in conducting this study, we had looked at load characteristics first and when we reviewed cost characteristics that, in conjunction with the load 

characteristic review, indicated that there was material 

difference in the customer-related costs of serving different size customers and in conjunction with the varying average use per customer.  Those two factors led me to the conclusion that a splitting of the rate class was appropriate.  

     MR. DeVELLIS:  I'm going to ask you now about the transition between the M1 and M2 -- the new M1 and M2 rate class.  

     In the pre-filed evidence, it states that the third block of M1 class is priced to ensure the smooth transition between M1 and M2.  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  Where are you referring?  

     MR. DeVELLIS:  I beg your pardon.  I don't have a page 

reference.  But it's in -- it's actually quoted in -- under 

interrogatory number 25, that's J21.25.  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes.  Page 2 of 3, item C.  

     MR. DeVELLIS:  That's right.  And what you explain in 

response -- in paragraph C, on page 2, is what that means is that the price M1 and M2 customers will pay at or near the breakpoint should be similar.  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  That's correct.  

     MR. KITCHEN:  If I could actually ask you to turn up the undertaking, because you have to keep in mind this is based on, this response is to a certain extent based on a pre-ADR set of rates, which had a significant deficiency.  

     You also need to take a look at the undertaking, in terms of that smooth transition. 

     MR. DeVELLIS:  I understand.  That wasn't going to be my question.  

     My question was actually for Mr. Feingold.  During a 

discussion with Mr. Warren yesterday, you referred to a statement -- I will actually -- do you have yesterday's transcript?  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes, I do.  

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Page 133.  

     You referred to a statement by, made by Mr. Chernick at page 4 of his pre-filed evidence.  And the statement was that: 

“Union should be directed to design rates to ensure a smooth transition from the lower volume rate to the higher volume rate, so that customers will prefer to be on the rate that is designed for them.”  

     And what you've said in response to that, at page 133, line 21 is that:  

“There's no grounding in sound rate design principles that support that statement.”  

Do you see that there?  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes.  

     MR. DeVELLIS:  My question is, that seems to be a 

contradiction between what Mr. Kitchen says was the purpose of designing the M1 and M2 rate blocks to ensure smooth transition, and you say that that is not sound rate design principles.  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  Well, let me see if I can put this in the proper perspective.  

     What I was concerned about, in Mr. Chernick's statement, was the phrase on lines 19 and 20 of page 133 of the transcript that says, "… so that customers will prefer to be on the rate that is designed for them."  

     It leaves one with the impression that there's almost a self-selection process and quite the contrary.  In trying to design cost-based rates that are based on sound rate design principles, you are striving to develop in rates a cost basis.  And based on the characteristics of the customer that causes those costs to be incurred, you are determining what rate class is appropriate for that customer to be categorized in, as opposed to the customer deciding, based on the bill impacts, which class he would prefer to be in.  

     So I don't think there is a contradiction at all.  

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, there's also a statement in IR response J21.27, paragraph Q -- that's page 10 that we were looking at earlier -- it's right at the bottom of answer Q, just above R.  It says:  

“In addition, the level of potential rate switching between new rate M1 and rate M2 was moderated using the 50,000 cubic metre breakpoint.”     

Do you see that there?  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes, I do. 

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Can you tell me why that is?  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  Why it is is, because what we were attempting to do here was to review the level -- not the level, the number of bills that were around the breakpoint, both above and below, to determine the potential for customers moving from one rate class to the other from year to year as a result of their consumption either going above or below the chosen breakpoint.  

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Now, do you have the excerpt that I provided to you from J21.27, pages 71 and 72?  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  I do. 

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And is this the analysis you're 

referring to, in terms of -- there's a column here entitled 

"absolute number of bills above and below tier bills."  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes, it is. 

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Can you explain what that column means?  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  That column is the -- is a measure of the number of bills in the tier below and the tier above the particular breakpoint that is being examined.  

     So for example, in the -- if you look at the first two 

columns of this document entitled "lower and upper" and we look at the lower that is 45,001 and the upper as 50,000, that reflects the breakpoint at 50,000 cubic metres.  And if you were look on that row, moving to the right, to the column that Mr. DeVellis referred to, you see a number of 363.  

     That number represents the number of bills that reside in the volume intervals above and below that 45,000 to 50,000 breakpoint.  

     And the reason we identified that number was to be able to see the degree -- or the potential for customers to move from the new rate M1 class to the new rate M2 class and vice versa, based on the customer's consumption changing from year to year.  

     And the reason that we focussed on the bills that existed right around the breakpoint was because of the view that it was possible, with a small change in consumption, that the customer would qualify for either the higher rate or the lower rate from a volumetric point of view, based on changes in the customer's annual consumption.  

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, can I ask you why you would care about that?  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  The reason a utility cares about that is, it has a bearing on the administrative costs of implementing a rate such as this, a rate change such as this.  

    MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, if you look at the ‑‑ the tiers aren't the same size for different volumes.  You have a 5,000 cubic meter tier at the 50,000 ‑‑ or 45,000 level.  If you go down to 20,000, you have a 1,000 cubic metre tier.  It goes from 20,001 to 21,000.  Why is that?


MR. FEINGOLD:  I believe it was solely based on the data that was readily available from Union on how they developed their bill frequency analyses, which is really what this is.


MR. DeVELLIS:  How does that impact the numbers in the column -- absolute number of bills?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Well, it can have some impact on it, but, in my professional judgment, it wouldn't have a material impact.


All I was trying to do was to get an order of magnitude here, for purposes of looking at this issue of rate switching.  It was not a driver, by any means.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.  You had a discussion yesterday with Mr. Warren about whether or not you had looked at different break points besides 50,000.  You said you had, and you directed him to J21.27, paragraph P, where you indicate that you looked at 20,000, 27,000, 30, 50 and 55,000 cubic metres; do you recall that?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Just staying with this table now, I see you have some analysis here of those numbers, the 20,000, 27,000, et cetera, on the same table we've just been looking at?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes, I see that.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Is that the analysis that you were referring to when you were speaking to Mr. Warren?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Those are the break points that I was referring to.  This wasn't the sole extent of the analysis.


MR. DeVELLIS:  So what exactly did you look at, with respect to those other break points?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Well, I think if we go to the page on J21.27 that directly precedes this page that we just looked at, which would be page 70, there was another work paper entitled, "Union Gas Limited, Volume Break Data."  Again, it is just before the one that we were discussing.  It says page 1 of 1 in the upper right hand corner, but, again, these pages were not numbered in the hard copy document.  They were numbered in the electronic version.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, if I could be of assistance, it's approximately eight pages from the end of Interrogatory No. 27.


Members of the Panel, I'm not sure if you have it, but it looks like that.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes.  I found it.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I will get there.  Carry on.


MS. NOWINA:  Go ahead, Mr. DeVellis.


MR. DeVELLIS:  So do you want to ‑‑ can you explain to us what the analysis on this page says, or led you to conclude?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Well, the analysis on this page ‑‑ again, it's not really an analysis, per se, but it is a compilation of the data that was reviewed in looking at the various break points.


So you can see that there is average use information here for each of the volume breaks.  There is load factor information.  There is information looking at the percent of load that is captured in each of the break points by end use category.  And this was, again, another level of information that we reviewed, that we talk about in detail in the report, to evaluate the various break points, in addition to the information that we looked at in the prior set of questions.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, at pages 27 to 30 of your report, it's an analysis of Union's cost allocation study.


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  I know that you were speaking with Mr. Warren about this yesterday, but I have a couple of different questions.  I think that you told Mr. Warren yesterday that you did not have cost data by volume; in other words, that your analysis was restricted to the sub-classes, being residential, commercial and industrial, in Union's cost-of-service study.


MR. FEINGOLD:  That's correct.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.  Now, can you turn to undertaking J21.26, attachment 1?


 MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Which attachment was that, Mr. DeVellis?


MR. DeVELLIS:  I believe it is attachment 1, but it looks like there are two documents with attachment 1.


MR. KITCHEN:  Was that J21.26?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  The title of the document, Mr. DeVellis?


MR. DeVELLIS:  The title of the document is, "Request for proposal, general service rate M2 cost allocation rate design".


MS. NOWINA:  I have it.


MR. DeVELLIS:  The first document is page 1 of 2.  Then there is another document that starts on page 1 of 3.  That's the document I'm going to refer to.


MS. NOWINA:  All right, Mr. DeVellis, you can go ahead.


MR. FEINGOLD:  I have it.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Actually, sorry, it's part 3 of that document, which starts page 1 of 5.  Part 3 is proposal requirements.


MR. FEINGOLD:  I see that.


MR. DeVELLIS:  If you go to page 2, under paragraph 3 or 3.1, it says:   

"The general service rate M2 cost allocation and rate design review must include the following."  


If you go down to the fifth black bullet point, it says:

"Analysis of customer‑related costs across different volumes."  


Do you see that there?


MR. FEINGOLD:  I do.


MR. DeVELLIS:  How have you complied with that aspect of the RFP?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Well, first off, the structure of Union's cost-of-service study, if you look across all of the classes, each class has a different volume level.


So right off, from the start, Union's cost study as it exists today can give you unit costs by rate class, which gives you unit costs for varying volumes.


Within the context of rate M2, as I said earlier, the cost study did not provide to Navigant the information that would allow us to directly look at the unit cost by volume within the rate M2 class.  But, as I said in my report, I believe that the information that I did have for service replacement costs and station replacement costs did give me a basis to develop monthly charges for the two rate classes, and those two rate classes are differentiated by volume.


So I believe that we were able to comply with it, to the extent that the data was available.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, at page 36 of the Navigant report, you say, at paragraph number 3 on page 36, that:

"Separation into volume-based rates best accommodates the variation in customer-related costs among the sub-classes within the M2 rate class.”

Now, that statement assumes, doesn't it, that you expect there to be differences in customer-related costs determined by volume usage?  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  I would agree with that.  

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Then the logical conclusion of that would be that given the large range and usage levels in rate M1, there will be a large variation within M1 and unit customer costs.  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  Well, I don't believe that they will be as wide a variation in unit customer costs in rate M1, new rate M1, as there will be in new rate M2.  By virtue of the fact that new rate M1 is more homogeneous in my view compared to new rate M2.       

MR. DeVELLIS:  But you haven't done an analysis of the two classes to see that, to determine whether or not the 50,000 is a rational breakpoint in terms of allocation of costs.  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  No.  I haven't done an analysis.  But based on my review of a number of other utilities’ cost studies that do differentiate by volume, it's my judgment that that is an expectation that is highly likely.  

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Yesterday, in response to a question from Mr. Warren, this is at page 125 of the transcript, Mr. Warren asked you what would be the harm, eventually in having a separate residential rate class.  

     And you responded at the bottom of page 125, at line 26:   

“That almost half of the commercial customers served by That almost half of the commercial customers served by Union can be served with facilities that are appropriate to be served by a 

residential customer.”  

     Do you see that there?  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  I do.  

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, if you turn to page 40 of your -- of the Navigant report, you have the number of customers in the new M1 class, and new M2 class, by -- separated by end use.       

MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes.  

     MR. DeVELLIS:  You have 69,404 commercial customers in the M -- new M1 class.  And only 5,162 commercial customers in the new M2 class.  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  I see that.  

     MR. DeVELLIS:  So yesterday in response to Mr. Warren, you said that almost half of the commercial customers could be served with the same services that are used to serve residential customers.  But you have much more than half, over 90 percent of commercial customers in the M1 class.  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  Well, we're mixing apples and oranges.  The import of my statement, during yesterday's 

cross-examination, was that if you look at rate M2 -- I'm sorry new rate M1, the 69,000 customers, roughly 35 or 40,000 of those customers have very similar usage characteristics to residential customers.  

     And on that basis, I indicated that I believe that the costs of serving on a unit basis between the residential and those smaller commercials would be similar.  However, if you designed a separate residential rate, you would end up having residential customers that are paying a certain rate for service.  And because all of the commercials then would be in a class other than the new rate 1, you would presumably have them paying a different rate, even though they had the same characteristics of the residential customers.  

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  But just following up on that point though.  Even on the basis of that analysis, you would have 35 -- the other 35,000 commercial customers in the same class as the residential customers, even though you have just said that they don't have the same cost characteristics.  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  No.  I said for those smaller commercial customers, that they do have similar characteristics to residential.  As a result, I believe similar cost characteristics.  

     MR. DeVELLIS:  But the other 35,000 don't.  But they're in the same class.  That's the point.  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  Well, the point is, if the residential -- if you proposed a residential class, those 35,000 commercial customers that I am talking about would not be in that residential class, even though, from a cost perspective and from a load characteristic perspective, they should be, because they're similarly situated.  

     So you set up the situation where you have two customers that, aside from the fact that one's called residential and one's called a commercial, they could be charged very different rates for the same service and with the same costs that they impose on the utility.  

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeVellis.  

Mr. Ryder, I think you're next.  

     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. RYDER:  

     MR. RYDER:  Panel, I represent the City of Kitchener's gas distribution utility, and I have some questions for Mr. Kitchen on three topics.  The first is the monthly customer charge proposed for the T3 rate.  The second is the storage space charge proposed for both the T1 and the T3 rate classes.  And the third relates to Exhibit M1.6 and the manner in which the reduction in revenue requirements following the ADR was applied to the rate classes.  

     Now, Mr. Kitchen, I understand that the sole customer in the T3 class is the City of Kitchener gas utility.  

     MR. KITCHEN:  You are correct, Mr. Ryder.  

     MR. RYDER:  And that Kitchener is an embedded gas 

distribution utility.  

     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.  

     MR. RYDER:  And the significant difference between Kitchener and other T1 -- other classes, particularly T1 classes, is that Kitchener doesn't use or get allocated any costs of Union's distribution system.  

     MR. KITCHEN:  They're not allocated any distribution 

demand-related costs, that's correct.  

     MR. RYDER:  All right.  Now, the significance of a monthly customer charge is that it's paid regardless of the volume of gas consumed.  

     MR. KITCHEN:  Monthly customer charge is intended to recover the cost of being connected to Union's system.  It doesn't vary with throughput or capacity.  

     MR. RYDER:  So it is intended to cover fixed costs?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  It's intended to cover fixed costs, yes.  

     MR. RYDER:  That's to be distinguished from the 

commodity-related charges, which cover commodity-related costs which fluctuate with the usage.  

     MR. KITCHEN:  Commodity related costs are generally variable costs, yes.  

     MR. RYDER:  Now, the monthly customer charge to T3 is shown on Exhibit M6.1.  If I could ask you to turn that up, please.  

     MS. NOWINA:  M1.6, Mr. Ryder?  

     MR. RYDER:  Sorry.  M1.6. It is page 8.  

     Do you have that?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes I have it.  

     MR. RYDER:  It's shown at line 29, column H.  

     MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.  

     MR. RYDER:  For the monthly fixed charge on the T3 rate is $17,605.  

     MR. KITCHEN:  That is the number, yes.  

     MR. RYDER:  And that's increased from the number shown on column C of $15,083.  

     MR. KITCHEN:  That is correct.  

     MR. RYDER:  Right.  So you have increased it by 16.7 

percent.  

     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.  

     MR. RYDER:  And the increase originally proposed, before the ADR, was to $18,465.  

     MR. KITCHEN:  I will accept that without turning it up.  

     MR. RYDER:  Well, that can be seen in the pre-ADR version of Exhibit H3, tab 1, schedule 2, page 8.  

     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.  

     MR. RYDER:  So when the costs were reduced as a result of the ADR, the T3 fixed monthly charge was also reduced.  

     MR. KITCHEN:  It was reduced, yes.  

     MR. RYDER:  Yes.  Now, the T1 customer charge is shown on line 14 of exhibit 16 ‑‑ is it M1.6?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.  It's $1,800 a month.


MR. RYDER:  And that's the same as the level of the charge was before the ADR?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.


MR. RYDER:  So you didn't reduce the T1 charge as a result of the ADR reduction in revenue requirement?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.  The T1 monthly customer charge was set at $1,800 in, I believe, the 0063 case.  We typically don't adjust that rate, because it's not a cost-based rate; whereas the T3 rate is entirely recovering the distribution customer costs in the customer charge.


MR. RYDER:  The T1 class is made up of large industrial customers?


MR. KITCHEN:  It's made up of customers that have annual consumption in excess of 5 million cubic metres per year, yes.


MR. RYDER:  There are about 70 T1 customers in the class?


MR. KITCHEN:  Approximately.


MR. RYDER:  Some of them are as large as Kitchener, in terms of consumption?


MR. KITCHEN:  Some of them are as large as Kitchener, but the large majority are much smaller than Kitchener.


MR. RYDER:  But some are as large as Kitchener?  Four or five?


MR. KITCHEN:  I'd have to look at the forecast, but there are some customers, a handful of customers, I would say, that are larger, yes, or as large.


MR. RYDER:  As large or larger.


Now, can I ask you to turn to J‑509A.  This was a Kitchener interrogatory.  And at pages 1 and 2, you give the reasons why there was an increase in the T3 monthly customer charge.


You summarize those on the first paragraph of page 2.  Do you see that?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MR. RYDER:  And the first reason you give is that there were higher costs in the distribution customer classification.


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.


MR. RYDER:  Right.  And these costs, the distribution customer classification costs, are allocated by Exhibit G3, tab 5, schedule 23?


You told us that on page 1 of the answer.


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.  I would just like to have the schedule.


MR. RYDER:  Yes, please.


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, that is the allocation of distribution customer‑related costs.


MR. RYDER:  Now, not all of the cost items or categories in schedule 23 are allocated to the T3 class?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.


MR. RYDER:  And I've added ‑‑ I've identified four which are allocated to the T3 class.  I would like to run down those.


I take it you've only allocated those cost categories which affect the revenue requirement of the T3 class?


MR. KITCHEN:  I'm not sure I understand your question.  I think what we're doing in the costs, we're allocating those customer‑related costs that the City of Kitchener incurs.


MR. RYDER:  All right.  I want to identify those categories.  Can I start at page 10?


MR. KITCHEN:  Go ahead.


MR. RYDER:  And there is three on page 10, are there not?  Return on taxes, see you allocated 81,000?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, I have it.


MR. RYDER:  Then we get a reduction as a result of the accumulated deferred tax draw‑down?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MR. RYDER:  Then we get another 50,000 as a result of depreciation expense?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.


MR. RYDER:  Then if we go to page 22, towards the bottom there's ‑‑ well, throughout, there's total operating expenses of $94,000?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MR. RYDER:  And that totals $221,000.  Is that it for the allocation of Exhibit 23 -- or schedule 23?


MR. KITCHEN:  Just give me a moment.


MR. RYDER:  I might show you ‑‑ ask you to look at page 6, which has an allocation of distribution costs.


MR. KITCHEN:  The number you quoted was $221,000?


MR. RYDER:  Yes.


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MR. RYDER:  So that's all the costs in schedule 23 that were allocated to the City of Kitchener?


MR. KITCHEN:  My rate design schedule shows 222, but that is rounding.


MR. RYDER:  Then in the ADR, that was reduced to 211,260?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.


MR. RYDER:  So if you multiply the monthly -- the current proposed monthly charge of 17,605 by 12, you get $211,260? 


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MR. RYDER:  So all of schedule 23 costs allocated to Kitchener and the T3 are covered by the monthly charge?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.  It's a cost‑based rate.


MR. RYDER:  All right.  Now, are there not similar cost characteristics between the T1 and the T3?


I mean, the T1 receive an allocation of each of those four cost categories in schedule 23?


MR. KITCHEN:  Each one receives an allocation of distribution customer costs in the same manner as T3.  In fact, virtually all rate classes receive an allocation of distribution customer-related costs.


MR. RYDER:  All right.  These are fixed costs?


MR. KITCHEN:  They're fixed costs, yes.


MR. RYDER:  But if I could take you to page 8 of Exhibit M1.6, and if we could examine how you recover these customer distribution costs from the T1, the data on this monthly charge for T1 is at line 14 of Exhibit M1.6, page 8.


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.


MR. RYDER:  Right?  And the T1 costs have increased, since the 0063 rate case, from $17,032 in column B to $2,019 ‑‑


MR. KITCHEN:  2,119,000, yes.


MR. RYDER:  So that is an increase of 387,000?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.


MR. RYDER:  These are all schedule 23 costs?


MR. KITCHEN:  They should be, yes.  I haven't done the math, but I can't think of a reason why they wouldn't be.


MR. RYDER:  All right.  Even though the schedule 23 costs have increased, you are keeping the rate at $1,800 a month?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.


MR. RYDER:  And I take it, then, that the T1 customers, their customer charge doesn't cover all of the customer distribution‑related costs.


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.  Any under-recovery from the customer charges are recovered in the demand charges.  

     MR. RYDER:  Well, relating to commodity.  

     MR. KITCHEN:  No.  The transportation demand charges within T1.  So it is recovered on a fixed basis in the same way as the monthly customer charge.  We don't see the value of changing the monthly customer charge for the T1 customers, because it is $1800.  We leave it fixed the same way we do for other contract rate classes. 

     MR. RYDER:  Well, is there any reason why you couldn't apply the same approach to the T3 customer charge?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  Well, from a rate-design point of view, I don't think there is, Mr. Ryder.  Although City of Kitchener would end up paying the same level of cost.  Because what we would do is recover that in your demand charge.  So your demand charge would increase by whatever we reduced the monthly customer charge by.  

     So from a fixed cost basis, you're paying the same rate.  

     MR. RYDER:  Okay.  

     MR. KITCHEN:  Our approach to design of T3 rate is really to use cost.  We take very little discretion.  

     MR. RYDER:  Well, that's a good thing, isn't it?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  From my point of view.  It makes it easier to sit here.  

     MR. RYDER:  Can you just explain to me where the costs of the distribution customer variety, in schedule 23, that aren't covered by the T1 fixed charge, can you show me where they are included in page 8 of Exhibit 16 -- Exhibit M1.6.  

     MR. KITCHEN:  As I said, they would essentially be recovered in the demand charge.  There is no line item to show the shift within the schedule, but we recover the costs.  We would recover those costs in that rate.  

     MR. RYDER:  All right.  Can I turn you back to J5.09A, 

please.  Page 2.  You give, as the second reason for the increase in the T3 monthly fixed charge a change in the allocation factor.  

     MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.  

     MR. RYDER:  And was that a change that applied to all rate classes?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.  We update -- the majority of the costs in distribution customer that Kitchener sees are allocated using stationery placement costs.  As part of updating the 2007 cost of service study we would have updated the stationery placement costs' allocation factor as well.  

     MR. RYDER:  Well, did you just change the Kitchener 

allocation factor?  Or did you change it for all rate classes?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  For all rate classes.  

     MR. RYDER:  So the allocation factor for schedule 23 costs is the same for everybody?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  The allocation factor isn't the same for 

everybody.  But the factor that allocates costs is the same for everybody.  City of Kitchener will have a higher station placement cost than other customers or other rate classes, because their stations are much larger.  

     MR. RYDER:  And so how does that reflect itself in the cost study?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  Essentially, when we collect the information on station placements, we -- for our large contract customers which would include Kitchener, we collect the information by station and we accumulate that for each rate class and that becomes the allocation factor for the costs.  

     So to the extent that you have increases in capital and increases in your allocation factor, you will see an increase in the costs allocated to the rate class.  

     MR. RYDER:  All right.  Now, my last point on the customer charge relates to the nature of the costs in the distribution customer classification.  

     And because Kitchener is not allocated any functionalized distribution costs, can you just describe for me the difference between functionalized distribution system costs, on the one hand, and these schedule 23 costs, which are described as --      

MR. SMITH:  Madam Chair, if I may.  Mr. Kitchen is, in my submission, a fairly able witness and able to answer these questions so I haven't commented before this.  But, of course, cost allocation was a settled issue in this proceeding.  So to the extent Mr. Ryder has questions relating to the cost-allocation methodology, in my submission, they're not appropriate.       

These questions should be geared towards rate design and his client is a party to the settlement agreement, and I would not want to see, at the argument stage, an attack on the allocation of costs to the City of Kitchener.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Ryder, do you have a comment on that?  

     MR. RYDER:  Well, that's a fair comment.  It would be 

helpful to us if Mr. Kitchen could just give some assurances that the items in schedule 23 that make up the 

-- that support his customer charge for us are not included in the functionalized distribution system.  

     MR. SMITH:  Well, Madam Chair, I'm in your hands.  I mean Mr. Ryder has all but acknowledged his questions are largely irrelevant to this proceeding.  And Mr. Kitchen, I'm sure, is able to answer the question, if this Board cares to take the time to do it.  But -- 

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Ryder, I would suggest these are questions, since this is a settled issue, that I'm sure as a customer of Union Gas that in another setting or informally, that Union Gas would be happy to answer your questions.  

     But they don't seem pertinent to this proceeding.  

     MR. RYDER:  All right.  I will press on.  I will turn then, Mr. Kitchen, to the next point which is the storage space charge.  Could I ask you to turn up Exhibit H3, tab 5 schedule 1, page 1.  

     MR. KITCHEN:  Sorry, I didn't catch the last. 

     MR. RYDER:  Exhibit H3, tab 5, schedule 1.  

     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.  

     MR. RYDER:  Now, the storage space rates and costs are the same for both the T1 and the T3?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.  The T1, T3 rate are the same.  They're both designed total embedded cost of storage.       

MR. RYDER:  As I compare column C with column F, I see that you're proposing an increase of ten percent for this charge?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  Actually, if you were to go back to M1.6, line 23.  Sorry, page 8 of Exhibit H3, tab 1, schedule 2.  

MR. RYDER:  All right.  Line 23.   

MR. KITCHEN:  Line 23, you will see a space rate 

post-ADR agreement of 010, in both the current approved and the proposed.  

     MR. RYDER:  So it's gone back to -- its original?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.  As a result of the ADR, it's now at its current level. 

     MR. RYDER:  There is no increase now as a result of -- in this rate?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.  

     MR. RYDER:  So it is a cost-based rate?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes. 

     MR. RYDER:  Now, my final point is the manner in which the ADR reduction was applied to the rate classes.  

     If I could go to page 1 of Exhibit M1.6 and compare that with the original version of, as filed, Exhibit H3, tab 1, schedule 1.  

     Before the ADR, it shows that the increase to the T3, in column I, was 7.1 percent, which was below the average.  Do you see that?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.  

     MR. RYDER:  And in Exhibit M1.6, it's 3.3 percent, which is above the average?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MR. RYDER:  So I take it there wasn't a uniform pro rata reduction of the revenue requirement to the ‑‑


MR. KITCHEN:  No.  To implement -- to reflect the ADR, sorry, in rates, we actually take the ADR agreement and adjust the cost levels that underpin rates by component, and those cost levels are then used to generate new rates.


MR. RYDER:  When you adjust the cost levels, I take it you use the allocation methods that had been agreed on at the ADR?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MR. RYDER:  And when you come to the rate designing portion, is there any rate designing going on there?


MR. KITCHEN:  No.


MR. RYDER:  So is it just a straight application of the cost reductions?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MR. RYDER:  And so it's as a result of those cost adjustments that altered us from a below-average increase to an above‑average increase?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.  The impact of the ADR settlement was, as you said, it resulted in a higher than average increase.


However, again, I note that the T3 rate is a cost-based rate, with the exception of ‑‑ actually, it's not even an exception.  We allocate the margin to T3 and include that in the rate.  There is no discretion.


MR. RYDER:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Ryder.  We will take our morning break now and return at ten minutes to 11:00.  Mr. Aiken, I think that you will be next when we return.


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 10:30 a.m.
     --- On resuming at 10:56 a.m. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  

Mr. Aiken.  

     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. AIKEN:

     MR. AIKEN:  Thank you.  Most of my questions have been asked and answered, so I have just a few areas I want to cover with you, panel.  

     The first set of questions deals with Exhibit M1.6.  And specifically with schedule H3, tab 11, schedule 2 in that package.  This is the proposed general service redesign based on the 2007 allocated costs.     

     I just want to confirm that I have some of these numbers straight.  The increase in the monthly customer charge from $14 to $16 that you are proposing, results in a revenue to cost ratio of 73 percent in the existing M2 rate structure.  Is that correct?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  Sorry, which schedule are you at?  Schedule 1 or 2. 

     MR. AIKEN:  Sorry.  H 3, tab 11, schedule 2.  The existing M2 rate design at $16 has a revenue cost ratio of 73 percent on the fixed charge.  

     MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.  

     MR. AIKEN:  And at $14, is it somewhere in the 

mid-60s, I think I read somewhere, 64, 65. 

     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, that would be correct.  

     MR. AIKEN:  As a result of the M1, M2 rate design or redesign, that revenue-to-cost ratio rises to 74.6 percent and 79.9 percent respectively?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.  

     MR. AIKEN:  Could you turn up Exhibit J1.71.  This is an interrogatory response to Board Staff.  I'm looking at the table on page 2 of 2.  

     Column H is a percent fixed recovery rate for the various rate classes.  And these numbers are all pre the settlement agreement.  

     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.  

     MR. AIKEN:  Now, if I have the numbers right, lines 1, 2 and 3, as a result of the settlement agreement are now 75 percent, 80 percent and 73 percent.  And column 7, which is rate 01 in the north, would be 56 percent.  

     MR. KITCHEN:  I will take that subject to check, without looking at all of the numbers but I would agree, yes.  

     MR. AIKEN:  Could you either provide by way of undertaking what the post-ADR settlement agreement percentages are for the other rate classes, or confirm that in relative terms, they would be about three to four percentage points higher than the pre-numbers.  

     MR. KITCHEN:  I think it is easier for me to take that in the form of an undertaking.  

     MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  

     MR. SCHUCH:  That would be U3.2.  

     UNDERTAKING NO. U3.2:  PROVIDE POST-ADR SETTLEMENT 
AGREEMENT PERCENTAGES FOR OTHER RATE CLASSES

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Kitchen are you going to update the 

exhibit or just give the percentages?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  I will update the exhibit.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  

     MR. AIKEN:  Can you also confirm that the rate classes that do not show up in this rate schedule -- and I'm thinking M7, M9 M10, for example -- are rate classes that don't have customer charges as part of their rate tariffs?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.  

     MR. AIKEN:  In Exhibit H1, tab 1, again, which is part of the M1.6 update, you've provided updated tables 4 and 6 that show the impact of the proposed M1 and M2 rates compared to the existing M2 rate class post ADR agreement.  

     Maybe instead of turning there, my understanding is that Exhibit U2.4 that you filed this morning is essentially an expanded version of those two tables with and without storage and with more consumption level details?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  The response to the undertaking this morning was to really update the tables that were in the -- I think it was J26. -- J21.26.  So, yes, this is an update of the rate impacts of the ADR on the rate class split.  

     MR. AIKEN:  Now, on those tables for the M1, including 

storage and the M2 including storage, does the bill impact and the percent change include the gas commodity?  Or is that strictly the customer charge, the delivery commodity charge and the storage charge?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.  

     MR. AIKEN:  It does not include commodity. 

     MR. KITCHEN:  It does not include commodity. 

     MR. AIKEN:  Would you be able to estimate what the impact on the total customer's bill would be, if it did include gas commodity?  And not for all of these in here, but I'm just looking at the one with the annual consumption M1, 50,000, 5.9 percent increase.  I'm assuming the number would be very close to zero.  

     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.  The only -- I guess the only question I have is or the only clarification that I would like to make is I would like to use the same gas cost assumption that is filed in tab 4.  

     MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  

     MR. KITCHEN:  Tab 4, schedule 1 of the ADR. 

     MR. AIKEN:  Could you undertake to provide that –- 

MR. KITCHEN:  For the customer at 50,000. 

     MR. AIKEN:  Yes, under the M1. 

     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes I will do that. 

     MR. SCHUCH:  That will be undertaking U3.3. 

     UNDERTAKING NO. U3.3:  PROVIDE estimate OF what the 
impact on the total customer's bill WOULD BE, if it 
did include gas commodity, for the M1 rate 

     MR. AIKEN:  I'm leaving Exhibit M1.6 now and want to go to the actual rate schedules.  I don't think you need to turn this up, but I just want to look at the applicability of the existing M2 rate class versus the M1 and M2 and U1 and U2.  

     The existing M2 rate class is found in H3, tab 3, schedule 1.  It's actually at page 31 of 104 on my electronic version.  But the applicability says, to residential -- sorry, this is the general service rate M2: 

“Applicability as to general residential and 

non-contract commercial and industrial customers.”  

     Then similarly on page 57 of 104, the U2 rate applicability says: 

“To a customer or an agent who is authorized to serve service residential and non-contract commercial and industrial end users residential and non-contract commercial and industrial end users paying for the monthly fixed charge and delivery charge under rate M2.”  

     I want to compare that to the evidence filed by the School Energy Coalition.  Specifically Exhibit K21, page 17, footnote number 6.  

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Could you repeat that reference, please, Mr. Aiken.  

     MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  Page 21, page 17, footnote 6.  

     Now, in that footnote, I will read into the record:  

“While the Union tariffs appear to contemplate that contract customers would be served under rate M4 or rate M5, there are references in the record to certain large customers in rate M2, being contract customers.  For example, in Exhibit J21.27, part C, part 2, Union reports there are 83 individual contract customers 

in the M2 rate class of which 29 are commercial and 54 are industrial.”  

Then it goes on to talk about other contract customers.  

     Can you explain to me who these contract customers are in this non-contract M2 rate class.  

     MR. KITCHEN:  Certainly.  I think that the response to J21.27C may have been poorly worded.  There is a number of large customers within the M2 rate class that are contract size, but they do not have contracts.  

     In other words, they take service under M2, because the M2 doesn't have a hard limit on what customers can take service out of that rate class.  For whatever reason, they have chosen either to be in the M2 rate class rather than take service under M4 or M5, or they are very close to being eligible for other rate classes and haven't yet switched.


MR. AIKEN:  So these are large contract-size customers that are non‑contract?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.  The other way of looking at it is, we have two billing systems that bill general service customers.  One is the banner billing system, which bills the vast majority of our general service customers, and the other is contracts, which bills contract customers.  So these customers, although they are general service customers and billed off the M2 rate class, are actually billed out of a different system, but the same rate supply and the same quality of service and other parameters apply to that.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay, thank you.  My last set of questions has to do with the applicability clause for the new rate classes.  I will start with U1 and U2.  I had read previously that the existing applicability was for residential, non‑contract, commercial and industrial end users that would be served under rate M2.


Now, in the new rate schedules, which are at H3, tab 3, schedule 2, the U1 applicability reads:   

"To a customer or an agent who is authorized to service residential and non‑contract commercial and industrial end users paying for the monthly fixed charge and delivery charge under rate M1."


And, similarly, under U2 it is the same thing, except it is under rate M2.  So those are virtually identical to the existing U2 applicability.


 But when I go to the M1 and M2, the existing M2 says to residential and non‑contract commercial industrial customers.  Now the applicability has been changed, slightly, to say:  

"To general service customers whose total consumption is equal to or less than 50,000 M3 per year for the M1 or greater than 50,000 per year for the M2." 


Why the change from residential and non‑contract commercial industrial to general service?


MR. KITCHEN:  Between the M1 and U1 and between the M2 and U2; right?


MR. AIKEN:  No.  The existing U2 is consistent with the new U1 and U2, but the new M1 and M2 are not consistent with the existing M2.


MR. KITCHEN:  Well, the important point in the applicability is that the M1 rate class would be applicable to any customer consuming less than or equal to 50,000 cubic metres per year.


M2 will be applicable to any customer greater than 50,000.  Having an end-use reference isn't necessary.


MR. AIKEN:  Well, no, sorry.  I may not have been clear.  It wasn't the M2 reference.  It was the change from saying that the existing rate M2 was applicable to residential and non‑contract commercial industrial.


Now the new M1 and the new M2 specify that it's applicable to general service customers.  It's replaced the residential non‑contract CI with the phrase "general customers".  Was there any reason for that change?


MR. KITCHEN:  Other than I think the applicability is clearer when you don't specify an end use.


MR. AIKEN:  Then would you agree that the U1 and U2 should maybe be changed so that it says general customers under M1, M2?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.  I think that ‑‑ I agree there is an inconsistency between the M1, U1 in terms of the wording, but it doesn't change the fact that the U1 rate schedule is only applicable to customers taking service M1.  We could replace the words "residential, non‑contract commercial industrial" with “general service customers less than or equal to 50,000” and not affect the applicability of the rate schedule.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay, thank you.  Those are my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Aiken.  Mr. Dingwall.


MR. DINGWALL:  I think Mr. Scully was next, but...


MS. NOWINA:  I'm sorry, Mr. Scully.  I didn't get you on my list.  Mr. Scully you can go ahead.


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. SCULLY:

MR. SCULLY:  I didn't think I was next, but I'm glad to go ahead.  Mr. Kitchen, I would like to read you some words from a previous Board decision and maybe have a discussion with you about them.  The decision is from 1997.  It is EB-O195


This was a case that involved the Board examining the proposed merger of Centra Gas and Union Gas.  At page 4.1.9 of the decision ‑-


MR. SMITH:  Sorry, Mr. Scully.  Do you happen to have copies of that?


MR. SCULLY:  Sorry, I don't.


MS. NOWINA:  Is it very long, Mr. Scully?  Are you going to read it into the record?


MR. SCULLY:  It's quite short, a couple of paragraphs.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.


MR. SCULLY:  The Board said:

"The main issue from the perspective of certain parties was that the companies have not presented a definitive plan or proposal for harmonization of cost‑allocation methodologies and rates."  


And a little later in the decision, I think maybe on the same page:

"In this regard, the Board notes that rates in the merged company will continue to reflect geographic differences ..."


And here is what I want you to keep in mind:

"... until such time as the merged company puts forward specific proposals for Board approval."

     Mr. Kitchen, I was wondering, as you hear those words, do you have any thoughts about what the Board may have been thinking or indicating to the company when they said that?


MR. KITCHEN:  No.


MR. SCULLY:  Let me suggest one to you: that the Board ‑‑ that the company would like to see rates emerge which look the same for the two companies.  Is that an unreasonable proposition?


MR. KITCHEN:  When you suggest that rates should look the same, I don't think that the Board would suggest that Union should depart from rate design principles that reflect cost differences between serving customers in the north or the south.


We have made efforts to harmonize rate structures between the north and the south, but we continue to recognize that there are cost differences in serving the two distinct areas.


Examples of harmonization that we've undertaken are around the monthly customer charges between north and south.  In fact, in this case splitting the M1 and M2 rate class at 50,000 harmonizes ‑‑ better harmonizes the structure of the M2 rate with that of the rate 01 and rate 10 rate classes.


We've also harmonized, and we're moving away from that as a result of NGEIR, but over the years we've harmonized contract rates, in terms of blocking and such.


I personally don't see any reason why ‑‑ reason or justification for having identical rates between the north and south, when it costs different amounts to serve them.


MR. SCULLY:  Are costs always the determinant of rates?


MR. KITCHEN:  Costs are one of the determinants of rates, yes.


MR. SCULLY:  Are you familiar with the TransCanada rate design, on a general basis?


MR. KITCHEN:  I know that they have firm transportation services, interruptible transportation services storage and STS, storage and transportation services, and I know generally the make-up of those rates, but not any specifics around their design.


MR. SCULLY:  You're aware that TransCanada PipeLines divides its rates by zones?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MR. SCULLY:  And can you tell me the dimensions of the eastern zones of TransCanada PipeLines?


MR. KITCHEN:  I'm not sure what you mean dimensions.  What you're referring to?


MR. SCULLY:  Sorry, I can't hear you.


MR. KITCHEN:  I'm not sure what you mean by dimensions.


MR. SCULLY:  Where does it begin and where does it end, geographically?


MR. KITCHEN:  I'm not sure.


MR. SCULLY:  If I suggested to you that it started at the eastern side of Ontario, at least in the south of Ontario, and extended beyond Montreal, does that sound familiar?


MR. KITCHEN:  I can accept that, subject to check, yes.


MR. SCULLY:  Does that mean that the rates for a customer in Windsor would be the same as the rates for a customer in Montreal? 
     MR. KITCHEN:  I'm not quite following your point.  Are you talking about the distribution rates?  Or the cost 

of -- 

     MR. SCULLY:  TransCanada PipeLines transmission rate.  

     MR. KITCHEN:  If Union is within the EDA, then the 

transportation rates would be the same, I suppose.  But again I'm not familiar with the boundaries of the EDA, and where Union fits in.  It's not my area.  

     MR. SCULLY:  Well, let me just tell you that eastern 

delivery area does include Union and it extends to Montreal.  

     Given that, would the rates be the same?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  Well... 

     MR. SMITH:  Well, I believe the witness has said he doesn't know.  

     MR. SCULLY:  I'm telling them that that’s what they are.  

     MR. SMITH:  You didn't put any evidence in, in this case, Mr. Scully.  

     MR. KITCHEN:  Let me try to answer the question.  To the extent that we served our southern operations area 

entirely with TCPL FT, I would expect the transportation rate to be the same.  

     Fuel would be different, because transportation -- or 

TransCanada fuel ratios vary by distance.  Demand charges and commodity charges would be roughly the same.  

     The reality is that Union's southern operations area isn't largely served with TCPL FT, it is served with other pipelines.  

     MR. SCULLY:  All right.  What we're talking about, though, is just the TransCanada PipeLines' rate.  Not what Union does with it.  

     MR. KITCHEN:  Isn't that the relevant point, what Union does with it?  Because that's what is in our rates.  

     MR. SCULLY:  No, no.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Scully, do you have another question for the witness?  I think he answered that one.  

     MR. SCULLY:  In your estimation, would it cost more to serve Montreal than it costs to serve Windsor in terms of the pipe involved and the distance travelled and the fuel needed to move the gas?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  TransCanada has fuel ratios that are 

reflective of the distance travelled.  Demand charges within their zones, I believe, are the same.  

     MR. SCULLY:  So there's a different fuel ratio for Montreal than there is for Windsor?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  I believe that to be the case, yes.  Just as there are different fuel ratios for TransCanada across the northern operations area of Union Gas.  

     MR. SCULLY:  Could I ask you to take a look at the schedules that you have filed reflecting the ADR settlement, please.  

     MS. NOWINA:  M1.6, Mr. Scully?  

     MR. SCULLY:  Yes.  Have you got those?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.  

     MR. SCULLY:  I was just trying to figure out what the 

difference in cost for a typical customer was between the 

northern area and your southern area.  

     I see on the first page that -- looking over at column G, in line 1 for the R O1 rate 01 customer, the delivery charge is 14.5717 cents.  And that is contrasted with, at line 8 in the same column, 10.2922 cents for the south; is that correct?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.  

     MR. SCULLY:  And I always get -- I find this sort of hard to do, because then, in addition for the north, they have an additional charge for transportation and storage.  And that's over on the next page, again in the same column at line 1; is that correct?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  A bundled customer in the north would also pay the gas supply transportation rate, which covers upstream transport and storage.  The storage costs for the south are included in the delivery rate.  

     The difference is that a customer -- the difference is that both the transportation and gas supply commodity for the south are dealt with in the QRAM, whereas the gas supply transportation rates for the north are dealt with in these proceedings.  

     MR. SCULLY:  Yes.  So you got in the habit of just always stating them separately and that's why I've got to go to two pages to get the total cost.  

     MR. KITCHEN:  I state them separately because they appear on the rate schedule separately.  

     MR. SCULLY:  Right.  When I add those total costs together, or actually what I did was subtract, I find that for the first category, we'll call it the delivery - even though that includes storage and transportation for the south - it's 4.2248 cents more for somebody in the north.  Does that sound like in the ballpark? 

     MR. SMITH:  Mr. Scully, just so I can follow the math, are you subtracting 10.2922 from 14.5717?  

     MR. SCULLY:  Exactly.  

     MR. SMITH:  That might be slightly off then, but that's about right.  

     MR. SCULLY:  When you talk about a typical customer - I think Mr. Smith confirmed this yesterday - we're talking about somebody who takes about 2600 cubic metres a year; is that correct?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  That is the volume threshold for a typical residential customer in both the north and the south, yes. 

     MR. SCULLY:  When I multiply that out, I get just a little under $110 as the differential from – if the north that is paying more than the south in that category of the rates.  Does that sound reasonable?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  Just give me a moment.  

     MR. SCULLY:  I don't blame you.  Never trust the lawyers doing math.  

     MR. KITCHEN:  The more accurate representation of what the difference is appears at H3, tab 4, schedule 1.  In those schedules we provide the bill impacts of our proposal for a customer consuming 2600 cubic metres.  

     So if you compared the -- 

     MR. SCULLY:  Sorry I'm having a little trouble hearing you.  Where are you pointing me to?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  H3, tab 4, schedule 1 of the -- of M1.6.  

     MR. SCULLY:  I am presuming it is the same package you've updated?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.  

     MS. NOWINA:  It is.  

     MR. SCULLY:  Before you lose me on all of those figures, can you just stick with me for a second.  If you want to come back and change my figures, that's fine.  

     The problem is you've got a whole bunch of different zones in the north, and on the page that I am looking at you have put them together.  So it forms a more comprehensive package for me.  

     Can we do that, Mr. Kitchen?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  I can stick with you on that.  I'm just 

wanting to let you know there is -- a spot that has more accurate differences between the north and the south, but I will do my best to "stick" with you.  

     MR. SCULLY:  Just doing the transportation which is the last thing left.  There is a transportation rate on the second page for the north, and there is nothing comparable for the south.  So that's 6.2658 cents times 2600.  I get 162.91 for that.  So the total of the difference, for a typical customer, is $272.76.  

     Is that in the same ballpark as what you were pointing me to?  

 
MR. KITCHEN:  I get a difference in the north of approximately $131.00 difference, including storage, but excluding transportation to Union.


The reason I am excluding the transportation to Union is that those are both ‑‑ represent the cost of providing upstream transportation, and although those costs for the south will be recovered -- would be recovered in the total gas supply charge, and that is not broken out.


MR. SCULLY:  So for the south, somehow or other transportation gets over into gas supply commodity?


MR. KITCHEN:  For the south, in terms of where it shows up in the schedules, it shows up in the gas supply commodity rate, yes.


MR. SCULLY:  So I get a difference here of $272.00.  You have it down to $131?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MR. SCULLY:  That's just too much for me to deal with right here.  I will have to come back at that.  But dealing with the pages that I looked at, I was wondering if I could make a suggestion to you that might make your life and the life of your rate design department a little simpler and see if you think it is outrageous or not.


When I looked at the northern transportation at storage number, I looked over to the next page beyond that, which is tab 1, schedule 2, page 1 of 10, and the 6.2658 number is really a total of the averages of the gas transportation rates for four different zones in the northern area; is that correct?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.


MR. SCULLY:  I just noticed that we're talking about small differences between those zones.  We are talking a penny, or so; is that correct?


MR. KITCHEN:  The differences are small between the zones, but they reflect the cost of serving the zone.


MR. SCULLY:  Yes, but in terms of what's been happening to the customers, a penny is getting hard to find.  I mean, the changes are your bill has gone up $150.  Your bill has gone down $170.  


I'm just wondering why and if you might consider just closing those rates altogether and having one rate for the northern zone.  Costs do make a difference, I admit, but when it gets down to pennies and we're dealing with all of this complexity, and all of the different calculations you have to do, and all of the different customer notices, it just suddenly struck me as a reasonable proposition that you just meld them together.


MR. KITCHEN:  I need to make sure I understand what you're asking me to comment on, Mr. Scully.  Are you suggesting that I take the numbers in column H and I ‑‑


MR. SCULLY:  Sorry, what page are you on?


MR. KITCHEN:  I'm on H3, tab 1, schedule 2, page 1.


MR. SCULLY:  Yes, Mm‑hmm.


MR. KITCHEN:  Lines 14 to 17, and to create a single gas supply transportation or upstream transportation rate for all customers in the northern‑eastern operations area?


MR. SCULLY:  Yes.  That's really what you've done on line 18 and down again at line 23, isn't it, and then brought it forward to the previous pages as 6.2658?


MR. KITCHEN:  Would you also suggest that I do the same thing for the storage line, storage services?


MR. SCULLY:  Yes, Mm‑hmm.  I throw it out there for your consideration.  It seems to me ‑‑


MR. KITCHEN:  Well, I will give you my comment.  Mathematically that can all be done.  It is not something that I would ever recommend.


The reason I would never recommend it is that, in actuality, those are all cost‑based rates.  So the effect of doing what you are asking us to do would be to increase the rates applicable to customers in Fort Francis and the western zone above cost, and decrease the customers' rates in the eastern zone.


In fact, if I just look at these numbers, I would be increasing the transportation rate to ‑ I'm doing it again, just because the numbers seem too large ‑ by 26 percent, which I don't think the customers in Fort Francis or the western ‑‑ Union's western zone would appreciate.


MR. SCULLY:  Well, you're dealing with a percentage there, but you would also agree with me you're just talking pennies, aren't you?  One cent times 2,600, maybe it is a $26.00 difference.


MR. KITCHEN:  Twenty-six percent, I'm talking pennies to customers that were not incurring those costs on behalf...


As much as possible, we try to limit interclass subsidizations, and I think what you're asking me to do would be to build it in.


MR. SCULLY:  Well, this is the same class of customer.


MR. KITCHEN:  But ‑‑


MR. SCULLY:  I'm just suggesting it as an idea.  I'm not insisting you do it or anything.  I'm saying, think about it.


You know, the Board I think is looking for simplicity.  It is looking for a straightforward thing that consumers can understand, and if it saves Union a whole bunch of rate design, rate testimony, billing costs, maybe it is something worth considering.


MR. KITCHEN:  Well, I wouldn't support it on the basis of costs.  I'm not sure it would save me any testimony time.  But I don't really have anything else to comment on.  I wouldn't support it.


MR. SCULLY:  In this current proceeding, the Board had had some concerns about harmonization and what was still outstanding, and the major one I see at Exhibit G1, tab 1, page 3 of 22 of your filing.  If you can ...

     This admittedly is in the cost-allocation binder, but it leads to a schedule that you have just behind that, which is a revenue requirement impact schedule that I want to take a look at with you.


MR. KITCHEN:  Would you please repeat the reference, Mr. Scully?


MR. SCULLY:  Yes.  If you look at page 3 of 22, it's a response to Board's directives, harmonization.


MS. NOWINA:  That's G1, tab 1, page 3 of 22?


MR. SCULLY:  Yes, yes.


MR. SMITH:  Madam Chair, as the Board will be aware and as Mr. Scully is aware, not only was cost allocation settled, but the harmonization of the cost‑allocation methodologies between the north and south was specifically raised as an issue, indeed, by Mr. Scully's client at the last proceeding.  It was brought forward as an issue, as a directive for Union to look at it.  It was an issue in this proceeding.


Union filed specific evidence in respect of it and the matter was settled.


MS. NOWINA:  Given that, Mr. Scully, what's the purpose of your line of questioning?


MR. SCULLY:  I just want to find out what happened to rates as a result of the Board's directive and Union's response.  And right now, I don't understand what the rate result was, and I want to explore that with the witness.


MS. NOWINA:  And that isn't related to cost allocation or harmonization?  This panel is discussing rate design.


MR. SCULLY:  I appreciate that.  And presumably it is reflected in rate design, and I want to see where it came out in rate design.  I can't find it.  I want him to help me with it.


MR. SMITH:  Well, I think what is going to happen is we are going to find out a few minutes from now that it's been properly reflected in rate design, and I just don't want it to be said later in argument that Union didn't properly harmonize the north and the south.
     MR. SCULLY:  I perish the thought.  

     MR. SMITH:  Well...

     MS. NOWINA:  Comment noted, Mr. Smith:  And if it can be answered relatively soon, that would be helpful.  

     MR. SCULLY:  Maybe I can skip to the schedule that I was interested in, which is at sort of the back of that section, Exhibit -- tab 1, appendix B.   

     MR. ISHERWOOD:  I have that. 

     MR. SCULLY:  It is entitled "Revenue Requirements Impacts,"  

Do you see that, Mr. Kitchen?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, I have it.  

     MR. SCULLY:  So as a result of your response to the Board's directives, there was a difference thrown up in cost allocation and therefore in rate design; am I correct?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  The rate package that I put together is based on the cost study.  So it will include any harmonization steps that were taken in that study.  So it will encompass what's contained in G1, tab 1, appendix B.  

     MR. SCULLY:  So you had to look at this schedule to begin your exercise?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  Actually, no, I don't need to look at it.  This schedule provides the impact of the harmonization.  

     When I design rates, I look at the total revenue 

requirement.  

     MR. SCULLY:  So you wouldn't have to see whether there was any difference from the last one you looked at in the last rate case to what you started looking at in this case. 

     MR. KITCHEN:  When I design rates I start with the revenue requirement which, as I said, will encompass these changes.  There is no need for me to go back and design -- I guess there is no need for me to design rates prior to the changes.  I can design rates after the changes.   

     To the extent that I have a rate impact that I find abnormal or anomalous, I may go back and look at what is driving that.  But as a matter of practice we design rates based on the cost studies which would include all of the changes.  

     MR. SCULLY:  Well maybe I could just ask you a general 

question, or a couple of them.  

     When I look through this schedule, which is supposedly 

telling us what revenue requirements are going to change, it looked to me as though there was going to be a little change for the old M1 class or M2 class, but it doesn't really matter all that much because it's just shifting from one group to the other.  


Is that a reasonable conclusion?  If you look at column B and C on the first page at the bottom, revenue requirement change.  

     MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.  Whenever the cost group makes 

cost-allocation methodology changes, it results in a shifting of costs because the total stays the same and the allocator is what changes and that just moves costs around between rate classes. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Scully, your line of questioning isn't helping the panel make our decisions on the issues that we have to decide on.  So if you have a different line of questioning, that addresses rate design, we would be happy to hear that.  

     MR. SCULLY:  I will leave it there, then, Madam Chairman. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Scully.  

Mr. Dingwall.  

     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DINGWALL:

     MR. DINGWALL:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I will try to be brief.  And I am going to confine my questions to Mr. Feingold with respect to the M1, M2 issue.  

     Now, Mr. Feingold, I can see from your resume that you have done some work for Union Gas before; is that correct?  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes, I have.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Thank you.  Are you currently under -- 

currently -- any other mandates from either Union Gas or Duke, or Synergy, I'm not sure if the entities have formally merged yet for our purposes -- relating to the Ontario market?  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  Not to my knowledge.  Now when you say "you," do you mean me or Navigant?  

     MR. DINGWALL:  I'm referring to someone with your skill set.  I know Navigant is doing other things on the DSM side.  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  No, I'm not.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  In looking through your resume I see there is a significant history with respect to rate design, both in bundled markets and in unbundled and the developing markets.  But you've got a significant history in doing rate design studies and rate design methodologies.  Is that correct?  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes, that's correct.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Would you agree with me that one of the key principles of rate design, from a customer perspective, is consistency?  Meaning, the design of the rates shouldn't change too frequently, otherwise customers will be confused and regulators won't be able to track what is happening over time.  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  Well, I think consistency from a 

customer's perspective can be looked at in two ways.  You can look at consistency as it relates to the rate structure itself, which the customer may or may not see depending on the degree of sophistication that the particular customer has as it relates to energy costs.  

     The second is looking at the bottom-line impact on the 

customer's energy bill, looking at it on an annual basis; looking at it from month to month.  So presumably there are two aspects to this consistency issue.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  As part of your mandate, I take it you were focussed on specifically the question of how to develop these two separate rates; is that correct?  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  No.  I would say the focus of the mandate was to analyze the basis upon which the existing rate M2 class could be split into classes that would reflect small and large-volume considerations.  

     I would say a secondary aspect would be to develop a rate structure that would be consistent with that split, but, as I have said in my report, that was meant more for illustrative purposes and I fully expected that Union was going to have to make modifications to that before it could file any formal rate design proposal before this Board.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  As part of your mandate, were you made aware of two specific initiatives.  One I will call NGEIR and the other I will call GDAR, to give you a bit more detail.  The Ontario Energy Board has a department that specifically comes up with acronyms.  That's all they do.  

     And these two particular acronyms relate to the natural gas electricity interface, which effectively will be addressing storage needs as a result of the perceived generation, electricity generation crisis in Ontario, and could result in some changes, some potential unbundling of storage that might affect other rate classes.  

     GDAR is the Gas Distribution Access Rulemaking, which 

relates to the potential unbundling of the billing function, meaning the opening up of the billing function to either third-party providers or the identification of those costs through another potential unbundling exercise.  

     Were you made aware, as part of your mandate, that these two processes were underway?  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  Not as part of the mandate, no.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  Given the potential that storage and billing could be unbundled, does that leave you with the impression that the work that you've done and the proposed division of the M2 rate might have to be redone?  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  No, I don't believe so.  The sole focus of the mandate and the sole focus of Navigant's work in this area was to focus on the delivery service rates, and that was confined to review of distribution costs associated with those delivery rates, as opposed to anything related to the storage function.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.  

Ms. Ruzycki  

     MS. YOUNG:  Ms. Young.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Young, I'm sorry.  

     MS. YOUNG:  That's okay.    

     MS. NOWINA:  Go ahead, Ms. Young.   

     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. YOUNG:  
     MS. YOUNG:  Thank you.  And good morning.  All of my questions are related to the proposed split of the M2 class.  

     Generally, they relate to the timing of implementation of the restructuring, so Mr. Kitchen they're probably largely going to be addressed to you.  

     First of all, would Union agree that a January 1st, 2008 implementation date for a restructuring of the current M2 rate class tends to make sense, if you want to do the restructuring sooner rather than later, and if 2008 is the first year of a multi-year incentive regulation plan?  


MR. KITCHEN:  Our proposal is to introduce the rate effective January 1st, 2008.  What we're seeking approval of, in this proceeding, is that this ‑‑ the rates that come out of ‑‑ sorry, the rates that come out of this proceeding will form the basis for 2008 incentive, including this rate change.


MS. YOUNG:  Thank you.  And as a result of that, would Union also agree that if implementation were somehow delayed and so it wasn't going to be January 1st, 2008, then it's likely that a restructuring would ‑‑ may have to wait until the end of the first term of incentive regulation plan?


In other words, you could, but you probably wouldn't want to do a major restructuring part way through the term?


MR. KITCHEN:  My preference would be to obviously implement January 1st, 2008 to limit rate changes through the incentive term.


However, I can't say that implementing during the incentive period would have serious detriment, because, if you remember, what we're doing is we're taking the total cost currently allocated to M2 and essentially splitting them between the new M1 and the new M2, such that the overall recovery is the same.


Of course, my preference is to get on with it, but it is not uncommon for us to make rate changes or rate design changes through incentive regulation periods.


MS. YOUNG:  Okay.  Just from the perspective of avoiding customer confusion, and I know Mr. Feingold addressed this, but, Mr. Kitchen, your views about ‑‑ is it fair to say that from the perspective of avoiding customer confusion, a restructuring of the M2 class should be done only once as opposed to perhaps a two‑step process?


MR. KITCHEN:  Definitely.  I think ‑‑ first of all, I'm not sure how you would do a two-step process to restructure a rate class.


I think that it is much more preferable to make the change and deal with the communications issue all at once and not prolong it in any sort of way.


MS. YOUNG:  Thank you.  Just turning to the billing system changes that are required and that you spoke to in your evidence, are those changes quite dependant on the nature of the split?


So, for example, if the class was being split into, say, three new groups rather than two, is that a significant impact on the system changes that are required?


MR. KITCHEN:  I'm not the systems person, but I would anticipate there would be additional costs with splitting the rate class into more than the two proposed rate classes.


But, again, it is hard for me to really say if it's significant.  There may be some changes, additional time required for setting up rate tables and such, but I can't comment on whether it is significant.


MS. YOUNG:  Any thoughts about if it was a split into two rate classes, but the break point was different?


MR. KITCHEN:  I don't believe that would have any impact on our costs.


MS. YOUNG:  Will the system changes that Union needs to make to implement its proposal for MS take the full 2007 year, or is it a question of those changes only requiring part of the year, but the first logical opportunity to implement is January 1st, 2008?


MR. KITCHEN:  I don't know.


MS. YOUNG:  If the Board were to find in this case that additional analysis of alternatives for restructuring the M2 class were appropriate along the lines of those suggested by the School Energy Coalition, would a January 1st, 2008 implementation date still be feasible?


MR. KITCHEN:  I guess the first ‑‑ I need some clarification.  I'm not sure we have a proposal from the School Energy Coalition that we could implement at this point.


What we do have is our proposal.  I'm thinking that it would impact the implementation date, to the extent that we have to develop some new proposal and bring it forward for approval.


MS. YOUNG:  If I could just follow up on that a bit.  So what you're saying is 2007 ‑‑ if there was to be additional analysis and if it resulted in a new split of the M2, that 2007 would be used for that purpose, analytical purposes, and perhaps 2008 might be required for billing changes?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.  We wouldn't begin any billing changes until we actually had approval to restructure the rate class.


MS. YOUNG:  Okay, thank you.  Those are my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Young.  Mr. Millar?  Is there anyone else ‑‑ I think we have covered everyone.


MR. MILLAR:  Am I the last one?  Okay.


MS. NOWINA:  That's what we've decided, yes.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. MILLAR:

MR. MILLAR:  Wake up here.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I'll be very brief.  I've been crossing off my questions as we've gone.


I will start with, I guess it is a general question for Mr. Feingold, I presume.


In your report, I guess to take it back a step, there seem to be two methodologies, one can use -- or at least two methodologies one can use in rate design.  One would focus on end-use categories, I guess, and the other would focus on load characteristics.


I think we have been talking about some of these elements over the last couple of days.  And, of course, your study recommends something based on load characteristics.


However, I note that, as has been pointed out in your study, your study points out, as well, many other LDCs choose to go with end-use categories.  And I think I heard you say yesterday that in many ways rate design is as much art as it is science.  Did I hear that correctly yesterday?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes, you did hear it correctly, that I said rate design was more of an art than a science.


What I was hesitating about was your characterization of the survey results in the Navigant study.


I believe what the study indicated was that in the residential area, as I said earlier this morning, there were roughly 20 percent of the customers ‑‑ of the utilities we surveyed that did not have residential rates.  But I didn't really have a statistic in there, to the best of my knowledge, that talked about, across all of the classes, how utilities relied upon end use versus load characteristics for purposes of establishing rate classes.


What I can tell you, more generally, is that in my experience, with the increased emphasis on relying on cost for setting rates, there has been, in my view, more of an emphasis on load‑based or volume‑based rate class development, as opposed to end use.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you for that clarification.


Would it be fair to say, though, that certainly some LDCs use end-use categories?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes, they do.


MR. MILLAR:  And would you agree with me that taking into account that you said it is more art than science, it might be a topic upon which reasonable experts might reasonably disagree, as to what the best rate design for any particular LDC might be?


MR. FEINGOLD:  I would say that there would be variation, just as there is with any rate design proposal that has a degree of specificity attached to it relative to the types of customers that will be served under the rate.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  You certainly already discussed what you see as the benefits of going with a load characteristics approach.


Could I ask you what the advantages might be to using end-use characteristics?  Why is it some experts feel that might be the way to go?  What are the advantages, I guess I am asking, of using end-use characteristics?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Well, first, I guess I'm struggling a bit with trying to characterize the benefits that other experts might see in that area.  I think I have made it very clear that, in my judgment, from a rate class derivation perspective, I believe that volume‑based is more appropriate and embodies the objectives that we're trying to achieve in rate design more fully.


I wouldn't want to speak for other experts.  It may be that other experts believe that there are factors other than cost that may influence why a certain rate class should be structured the way it is, or a certain rate structure should be designed the way it is.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  That's helpful.  I don't want to put words in your mouth.  I'm not going to press you on that.  Could I ask you to turn to page 18 of your report.   

     MR. FEINGOLD:  I have it. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  If we look at I guess it is the third sentence it says NCI analyzed Union's 2003 and 2004 billing data for the M2 rate class.  Do you see that?  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  I see that.  

     MR. MILLAR:  If we turn now to page, I think it is 23, there is a footnote, footnote 17.  It says: 

“NCI believes that the much higher load factor observed for the large industrial subclass in 2003 may have been an aberration.”       

Given the fact that you feel there may have been an aberration, in at least a part of the data, is there a reason you didn't take a larger data period to look at more years than just two years?  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  Well, I thought that two years was 

sufficient.  There is a great deal of data that has to be 

reviewed when we get into the particulars of bill frequency 

information and looking at it by subclass.  And I think just by virtue of the fact that we have a number of pages of work papers and other information that was provided in response to data requests, it is a fair amount of information to go through.  

     But having said that, this aberration, to me, was not a fatal flaw in any way, shape or form, by virtue of the fact that this class represents less than two percent of the throughput on Union's system.  And I didn't see that as a concern in materially changing the results.  

     MR. MILLAR:  So you are satisfied two years is enough?  

     MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes, I was.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  

     MR. KITCHEN:  If I could just add to that.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Yes. 

     MR. KITCHEN:  In terms of what we provided Mr. Feingold, we actually didn't have a mechanism for taking the data out of our banner system.  We had to build that before we could even get Mr. Feingold the data.  

     And the only data historically that was available for the full year period was the 2003/2004 period at the time.  

     MR. MILLAR:  That's helpful.  Thank you.  Moving on to the increase in the monthly charge, the fixed monthly charge.  

     We may have covered some of this yesterday, so I apologize if you have to repeat yourself and I will be very brief.       

But is the declining average use per customer a 

consideration in proposing an increase to the fixed charge?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  It was not a consideration I made.  It was really based on cost.  

     MR. MILLAR:  I thought I heard you say that yesterday, but I just wanted to confirm.  Is there a reason that the company isn't proposing 100 percent recovery through fixed costs?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  I think I made a comment to that yesterday as well, that -- I don't rule out, as an end state at some point being at 100 percent of 100 percent customer related cost recovery.  Our experience has been to move slowly, to move at increments, as I said, this is similar increments to what we moved to in the past and not to make the big jump.  

     But I can't rule that out.      

MR. MILLAR:  So it is possible in the next rates case you may be seeking another jump. 

     MR. KITCHEN:  It is possible, but I can't speculate.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  The final area I want to cover, again this relates to the fixed monthly charge.  There have been some suggestions that an increase in the fixed monthly charge may have an adverse effect on low-income people.  

     I think the rationale there is an assumption that 

low-income people may tend to use less volume and therefore they are disproportionately affected by a higher fixed portion.  

     Do you have any -- has Union does any studies, let me ask you first, that would demonstrate that low-income people tend -- when compared with other residential customers, that low-income people would tend to use less gas?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  I don't think we've done any studies, not to my knowledge in any event.  Although it is an assumption that I'm not sure is necessarily true.  I'm not sure how you would know.  To the extent that you may have a smaller home, you may also have a less energy-efficient home.  So I'm not sure how you can make, necessarily, the link.  

     MR. MILLAR:  So I take it from that, that Union hasn't done any internal crunching of the numbers to determine that?  I think I heard you say you don't even know how you would do that, so I'm assuming you haven't. 

     MR. KITCHEN:  I don't think we have load data by income.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay. 

     MR. KITCHEN:  The other point I would like to make is that the impacts are relatively small on an annual basis.  And they also, the majority of the increase actually occurs in the summer months when the bills are the lowest.  

     In the winter months, there's actually, there will be bill decreases.  And to the extent that -- the other thing you need to keep in mind is to the extent that you have a colder-than-normal winter, a higher fixed cost actually protects consumers, meaning they're not paying as much in their volumetric rates.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  Those are my 

questions.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  

Mr. Smith.  

     RE-EXAMINATION BY MR. SMITH:  

     MR. SMITH:  I will try to keep this brief.  Starting at the beginning.  

     Mr. Kitchen, you were asked by my friend, Mr. Warren 

yesterday, if you were aware of the customer classes in which the School Energy Coalition's constituents were situated.  You said that they were located in both M2 and M1.  

     My question is:  Do you know roughly the percentage of SEC members taking service or consuming more than 30,000 cubic metres?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  It would be approximately say 60 percent.  

     MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  Mr. Kitchen, we have also heard a number of times that Union does not have data specifically relating to the load characteristics of each customer group within the existing M2 class.  

     That's correct?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.  

     MR. SMITH:  Do you have an idea of what might be involved in obtaining such information?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  You would have to mark on a program to install daily, perhaps even hourly, meter reading or 

meter-reading capability at residential locations and small commercial locations within the M2 class, which would be extremely expensive to do, given that there is 900,000, roughly 900,000 customers.  

     MR. SMITH:  And as matters now stand, you only do your 

metering on a monthly basis; is that correct? 

     MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct. 

     MR. SMITH:  I take it you have been designing rates on that basis for some time now?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.  

     MR. SMITH:  Mr. Kitchen, you were asked -- you commented to my friend, Mr. DeVellis, regarding undertaking U2.4.       

I believe Mr. DeVellis ultimately redirected his question to Mr. Feingold, but I want to draw the bottom of page 2 of 5 to your attention of Exhibit U2.4.  

     Am I correct that if I look at line number 25 of page 2 of 5 and I look at the proposed rate, M1, for a customer with an annual volume of 50 cubic metres -- 50,000 cubic metres, I apologize, the proposed rate result will be a cost of $2,936 per year; is that correct? 

     MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.  

     MR. SMITH:  And if you turn over two pages to page 4 

-- I'm sorry.  Not to page 4.  Yes.  To page 4.  If you look at line 1, at 50,000 cubic meters under the new proposed rate M2, a customer will pay $2938?  

     MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.  

  
MR. SMITH:  And that's a different of two dollars?  


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  Mr. Feingold, Mr. DeVellis took you to J21.26, attachment 1, which my recollection is that that's the request for proposal that Union issued.  Do you recall that?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes, I do.


MR. SMITH:  And the suggestion was put to you that you had not complied with the request for proposal.


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes, I recall that.


MR. SMITH:  And my note indicates that you disagreed with the suggestion that you had not.


MR. FEINGOLD:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  And my notes also reflect that you ‑‑ in your view, you were able to make an assessment of how customer‑related costs varied with volume.  Do I have that right?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  Is there somewhere in your report that the Board could see an analysis that you may have done which would confirm your view?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes.  The results of that analysis would appear on page 41 of the report, specifically tables 8 and 9 which appear on that page.


MR. SMITH:  We may want to go to that, just so you can point it out specifically, Mr. Feingold.


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes.  In those two tables we have reflected major components of Union's customer‑related costs; that is, average station placement costs and average service replacement costs.  And as you can see in the "total" column in table 8, as you step through the rate M2 sub-classes, residential, commercial and industrial, there is a pronounced increase in the unit cost for those categories.  


Similarly, in table 9 you can see, under the column entitled "service costs", again there is a pronounced increase in the unit cost as you go through those sub-groups.


Now, having those relationships in mind, if you then turn to page 22 of the report, table 2, and you refer to the last column in that table, "average use per customer", you can see that there is a difference in volume or a difference in average use per customer across the residential, commercial and industrial classes.  Those are the same groups that we just referred to on page 41.  So you can make a direct linkage between the unit costs in tables 8 and 9 and the volume level or use per customer that appears in table 2.


So, in my view, that is responsive to the interest in assessing the cost by volume.


MR. SMITH:  Thank you very much, Mr. Feingold.  Panel, those are my questions in re‑examination.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.  Mr. Sommerville.


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Feingold, I am looking at page 6 of your report, which is the implementation of your recommendation section.


It is very explicit in its recognition that your report was not intended to be ‑‑ to represent a completely finalized rate proposal, and that you anticipated that Union would have to take further steps in order to develop a fully finalized rate proposal.  Have I read that correctly?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes.  That is a fair characterization.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You go on in that paragraph to say that there are a number of things that you think Union would be required to do in order to have a rate proposal qualify as a fully finalized proposal.


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That's the list of bullet points that follow there.


Mr. Kitchen, can we conclude, from the fact of your proposal in this case, that you are satisfied that, to the extent necessary, Union has completed that list?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, sir.  In fact, I responded to an interrogatory at J7.11 that went through each of Mr. Feingold's implementation points and laid out what we had done and where we were.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Sommerville.  I have no questions.  That completes the questioning of this panel.


Thank you very much, gentlemen.


MR. FEINGOLD:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  We will break for lunch now and when we resume, I believe we will be hearing from Mr. Chernick.  Is that right, Mr. DeVellis?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.


MS. NOWINA:  We will break until 1:30.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Madam Chair. 


‑‑‑ Luncheon recess taken at 12:10 p.m.
     --- On resuming at 1:30 p.m.  

      MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  I'm just going to check to see if Mr. Crockford is still on the line.  Mr. Crockford, are you still with us.  

MR. CROCKFORD:  Yes. 

     MS. NOWINA:  You do have stamina.  All right.  Thank you for letting us know.  

     MR. CROCKFORD:  Interesting stuff.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Good, I'm glad you think so.  

Mr. Smith, I have a question for you that I should have asked your panel.  I will ask you, and maybe Union folks can help us.  If not perhaps we can take an undertaking.  It is a pretty simple question.  

Does Union currently, and do they plan to continue to identify, be able to track residential customers; that is, if we have a blended rate, can you still identify residential customers and do analysis on residential customers?  

     MR. SMITH:  It's probably better to take it by way of 

undertaking. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Do I need to clarify the question?  

     MR. SMITH:  Well, I believe I understand what you're asking.  Okay.  I guess the question is:  Is it from a cost 

allocation perspective?  Or do we -- or does Union track whether or not customers are, in fact, as they appear in the cost study, to be a resident, residents or -- or a commercial customer.  

     MS. NOWINA:  I will make it much simpler for you.  On your billing system, do you have a field or a customer number or some way of identifying which customers, by customer, is a residential customer?  

     MR. SMITH:  We will take the undertaking, thank you.   

     MS.  NOWINA:  All right.  Thanks.  

     MR. SCHUCH:  That will be Undertaking U3.4.  

     UNDERTAKING NO. U3.4:  to Advise whether Union has a 
field or a customer number or some way of identifying 
which customers, by customer, is a residential 
customer, on its billing system

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  

Mr. DeVellis, do you want to introduce your witness?  

     MR. SMITH:  I apologize, Madam Chair.  

     PRELIMINARY MATTERS: 

     MR. SMITH:  There is just one preliminary matter.  I have two additional undertakings, those being Undertakings U2.2, which was a question asked by Mr. Dingwall to provide the Alberta monthly settled price from January '03 to January '06.  That's been provided.  

     Mr. Adams had asked for a copy of the survey, Union filed as part of its Natural Gas Forum submission.  And we have provided that, and that is Exhibit U2.3.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.  

MR. SMITH:  Sorry, as a final matter I have an answer to U3.1.  The total cost of conducting the M2 study by Navigant was $80,122.88, American.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  

     MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Is that it, Mr. Smith? 

     MR. SMITH:  That is it.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Are any other preliminary matters?  

     MR. ADAMS:  Madam Chair, Mr. Smith has provided a copy of a book of materials that he intends to use for 

cross-examination.  I wonder if it is an appropriate time to get a reference number for that?  

     MR. SMITH:  I don't mind, although in the normal course I wouldn't mark it as an exhibit until I actually refer to it, but it is fine either way.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Why don't we mark it when we get to it, Mr. Adams.  

     MR. ADAMS:  Okay.  Thank you.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Any other matters?  

Mr. DeVellis.  

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Our witness is Paul Chernick, who has already taken a seat.  Perhaps the witness could be sworn.  

     MS. NOWINA:  We will swear him, Mr. DeVellis.  


SCHOOLS ENERGY COALITION – PANEL 1: 

     Paul Chernick; Sworn. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. DeVellis.  

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.


EXAMININATION BY MR. DeVELLIS:  

MR. DeVELLIS:  Good afternoon, Mr. Chernick.  You have provided pre-filed evidence in this proceeding, it's identified as Exhibit K21.  

     MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.  

     MR. DeVELLIS:  And you've also provided responses to 

interrogatory responses to Union Gas Limited and the Consumers Council of Canada?  

     MR. CHERNICK:  Yes. 

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Was the evidence and the interrogatory 

responses prepared by you or under your direction?  

     MR. CHERNICK:  Yes 

MR. DeVELLIS:  Do you adopt them for the purpose of your testimony here today? 

     MR. CHERNICK:  Yes, I do. 

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Do you have any corrections to your pre-filed evidence?  

     MR. CHERNICK:  Yes, just one.  On page 28, line 10, it's a description dealing with my exhibits and says a customer would pay less on M1 than M2.  

     If you look at the table that follows, in fact the customer was paying more on M1 than M2.  

     So the word "less" on line 10 of page 28 should read "more."  That's the only correction.  

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.  Now, you provided a copy of your CV as exhibit, attached as Exhibit PLC-1, to your pre-filed evidence.  

     MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.  

     MR. DeVELLIS:  I'm just going to briefly ask you about some of the entries there.  I understand that you've received a bachelor of science in the civil engineering from the Massachusetts Institute of Technology in 1974. 

     MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.  

     MR. DeVELLIS:  And subsequent to that, a master of science in technology and policy, also from MIT in 1978?  

     MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.  

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.  I see that you worked as a 

utility rate analyst for the Massachusetts Attorney General from 1977 to '81. 

     MR. CHERNICK:  That's correct.  

     MR. DeVELLIS:  And within a research associate for Analysis Inference Inc. from 1981 to '86?  

     MR. CHERNICK:  That's correct. 

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Subsequent to that you have been president of Resource Insight Inc.?  

     MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.  

     MR. DeVELLIS:  In terms of your professional experience, I understand you've been qualified as an expert in rate design and cost allocation in a number of jurisdictions, such as for example Massachusetts, Texas, District of Columbia, Maryland, Arizona, Vermont, 

and as well as the Ontario Energy Board. 

     MR. CHERNICK:  Yes. 

     MR. DeVELLIS:  More specifically, I understand you've been qualified as an expert in rate design with respect to natural gas proceedings in six instances and they are listed in response number 2, to Union Gas.  That's Exhibit L21.2?       

MR. CHERNICK:  Yes that's correct. 

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.  That testimony we've referred to spans a time period beginning in the early 1980s all the way up to 2005?  

     MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.  

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.  Madam Chair, I offer Mr. Chernick as an expert in cost allocation and rate design and ask that he be permitted to provide evidence in that fashion to the Board.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Does anyone have any comments on Mr. Chernick's expertise?  

     MR. SMITH:  I will be cross-examining Mr. Chernick in 

respect to his qualifications.  I am satisfied that he be tendered at this time and I allow my questions to go to weight. 

     MS. NOWINA:  On that basis we will accept Mr. Chernick as an expert witness.  

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.  

Mr. Chernick you've had an opportunity to review the transcript of yesterday's proceedings.      

MR. CHERNICK:  Yes I have. 

     MR. DeVELLIS:  You were present this morning during Mr. Feingold and Mr. Kitchen's testimony?  

     MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.  

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, I will refer you, to begin with, with some comments by Mr. Feingold yesterday.  They can be found at page 108 of yesterday's transcript, of the May 25th transcript.  

     Mr. Feingold was replying to the point you made about 

Navigant having used the average consumption for February as a proxy for peak load in their load factor analysis.  

     What is your reply to Mr. Feingold's comments?  

     MR. CHERNICK:  Well, I think I explained in my report and Mr. Feingold doesn't really refute it in his elaboration in the transcript, that the average use in February is well below the design day, the design peak-day for which the system is designed.  

     And that the relationship between February use by a customer and the design-day use, will vary depending upon the nature of the customer and its energy use, particularly the efficiency of the building and its size, to a large extent.  

     So Mr. Feingold makes the point that, of course, customers who use gas for heating will have higher February loads compared to their average load, than customers who don't.


But he doesn't really address the difference between February loads and the much higher design peak loads and the variation between types of customers in that ratio.


So my basic point that his so‑called load factor is not a load factor - it's a February sales ratio - he didn't really respond to.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Why does that matter, in terms of Navigant's ultimate conclusions?


MR. CHERNICK:  Well, the point of splitting up the M2 rate is to try and distinguish groups of customers who have different costs, and, in particular, different costs that aren't just captured by a block rate.


And if all customers had the same load factor, then ‑‑ real load factor - that is, their contribution to the peak day, peak design day on which demand costs are determined - then everybody's usage rate could be the same, except to the extent that you're picking up some customer costs that may vary between one group and another, one size and another.  And load factor or approximation of load factor is most of what Navigant spends its time looking at in the report.


If you use this February sales ratio as a proxy for load factor, you may significantly distort your conclusions about which classes are more expensive to serve per cubic metre sold over the course of the year.  I don't think we can reach any strong conclusions about the effect or the co‑variance or the association of increasing size and increasing demand cost per cubic metre sold based upon the data that Navigant has presented.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, at page 112 of yesterday's transcript, Mr. Kitchen responded to your assertion at page 17 of your pre-filed evidence that the fact that most of Union's costs and load data are evaluated by customer type makes their dismissal of a separate residential rate unreasonable.  


How do you respond to Mr. Kitchen's comments on that aspect of your report?


MR. CHERNICK:  Well, his response is that Union does not disaggregate or collect its cost and load data by customer type, which was a very surprising answer, given that following that statement, both yesterday and today, Mr. Feingold talked in great detail sometimes about the data that Union provided to him, broken out between residential, commercial, industrial and the efforts he went to ‑‑ went through to try to approximate a size split at 50,000 cubic metres based upon those usage splits.


He pointed to various tables in his report, and, if you look in appendix F to his report, there's a cost-of-service study broken out between commercial/industrial on the one hand and residential on the other.  In their response J21.27, there are a number of tables that break out data that the company says it tracks based on residential, commercial, industrial and a large commercial/industrial category into those four sub-classes.


So I really don't know why Mr. Kitchen said something which his own evidence and Mr. Feingold's evidence contradict.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Staying on the issue of costs, you heard Mr. Feingold, at the end of his testimony this morning, make a comparison between tables 8 and 9 at page 41 of the Navigant study and tables 1 and 2 at page 22 of the Navigant study, and made the suggestion that those tables respond to, I guess, the requirement that -- or indicate that Navigant responded to the requirement that they measured cost by volume.  


Can you give us your thoughts on that testimony?


MR. CHERNICK:  Well, if you look at tables 1 and 2 on the one hand and tables 7 and 8 on the other, it is clear that the industrial ‑‑ well, the large industrial customers use more gas than the industrial, who use more than the commercial, who use more than the residential on a per customer basis.  


If you look at tables 8 and 9, it's also clear that the industrial class as a whole has higher customer‑related costs than does the commercial, which is higher than the residential.


Mr. Feingold goes to some effort to try and take the data the way it's broken out in tables 8 and 9, which, as I said, is the way that apparently Union collects it and provided it to Navigant, and convert that into an estimate of size‑related costs, variation in costs.


As I point out in my report, Navigant did that wrong by assuming that the smallest of commercial customers, who would be down in the M1 class, have the same customer costs as the largest of commercial customers, who would be up in the M2 class, but at least he made some effort to do that.  


We don't know how Union made that kind of split in working out their proposed allocation of costs between M1 and M2.


But the one fact that is obvious in comparing tables 1 and 2 to 8 and 9 is that the classes that have much larger customers do have larger customer classes.  I don't think that is a point that anybody really disputed.  It seems fairly obvious.


Turning the numbers in table 8 and 9 into costs below 50,000 and above 50,000, or below 6,000 and above 6,000, or below and above 20,000, or any other split, is another big step that either Navigant didn't do in most cases, or, when it did do, just for the 50,000, as I said, I think they did it wrong.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Do you recall this morning my discussion with Mr. Feingold with respect to table 7 of the Navigant ‑‑ in the Navigant report - it's on page 40 ‑ regarding the -- what Mr. Feingold referred to as similar cost characteristics between small-volume commercial customers and residential customers?  What are your thoughts on that discussion?


MR. CHERNICK:  Well, I guess we first find out from the transcript that about half of the commercial customers would be ‑‑ could be served by the same kind of customer equipment as the residential customers.  I don't know where that statement comes from.  I haven't seen anything in the documentation that indicates that to be the case, but it may be.


That would suggest that, if you look at some of the other data they have given us, basically commercial customers under about 6,000 cubic metres per year have customer costs similar to those of the residential.  And a grouping of those small commercial with the residential might make sense on the customer cost basis.  


However, I believe that Mr. Feingold also said that the load cases were similar for the commercial and the residential.  But if you look at those small commercial customers, they have much lower load factors than the residential customers of the same size.  The small commercial customers have load factors in the 30 to 32 percent range, while the residential customers have load factors well up into the 40s, and, for the very smallest ones, over 50 percent.


So putting even the smallest -- even if you split at 6,000, which would be the customers, commercial customers that Mr. Feingold seems to be indicating could be served by the residential equipment, even if you put those together with the residential customers, there would be a reason to split them out, because they have very different load factors, again using the load factor definition that Mr. Feingold used, which is not really correct.  But it's the evidence they provided.  

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.  My last question for you, Mr. Chernick, is with respect to the excerpt from J21.27 that I handed out this morning.  Do you have that with you?  

     MR. CHERNICK:  Yes, I do.  Let me just lay my hands on it.       

MR. DeVELLIS:  J21.27.  It was the pages 71 and 72, the two-page handout from this morning.  I don't think it was marked as an exhibit.  

     MS. NOWINA:  The vision test. 

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Very small numbers, yes.  

     MR. CHERNICK:  This will all be much easier when you get it on screen. 

     MR. DeVELLIS:  There's no zoom button on paper, obviously.  You heard Mr. Feingold's explanation as to how Navigant used this table, in terms of deciding on an optimal split in terms of the smooth transition between M1 and M2 and the potential for rate switching.  Do you have any comments on Mr. Feingold's testimony?  

     MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.  This is something I talked about a little bit in my report, although I couldn't really verify what Mr. Feingold did, because I only had basically the electronic version of the printout.  I didn't have work papers that allowed me to look at the specific calculations.  But what I suspected there and he has clarified, is that this column absolute number of bills above break -- above and below tier bills, that that's supposed to be the number of bills over two or three of the blocks under the column 2004 premises, the fifth column from the left.  

     So that, for example, the number that is highlighted 

-- first number that is highlighted, 72, which is the number that they developed for the 20,000 split, that's supposed to be the sum of either the 703 that's just below 20,000, in the block that starts at 19,001 and the block above that that starts at 20,001 and goes up to 21,000.  So that should either be the sum of 703 and 640, or perhaps based on what he said about the lower block, maybe it is also supposed to include the 712 for the next block 

down.  

     In fact, it is not either of those obviously, because it's not 1400 or 2200.  It's 72.  So the question is, well where did he get the 72 from?  The 72 is actually the difference between the 712 for the block that ends at 19,000, that is from 18,000 to 19,000, the 712.  

     Then two lines down, you see 640.  The number of customers in that block between 20001 and 21,000.  It's the difference between those two numbers, which is a completely meaningless value, and I think I understand how he made this mistake.  I think he intended to look at the column sum of premises, which is four columns to the right of the 2004 premises, and is the running cumulative total of that sum of premises that the 2004 premises number.  It's the next to last column that has numbers in every row.  I think he meant to take the number that were above 21,000, which would be the 881,868 - you will notice I'm wearing my 

glasses for this - minus the 880,525 two rows above.  But that would give you a difference of about 1300 or 1400.  Not the 72 that he reports.  

     So I think his calculation here is simply an error, and is not a reasonable basis for anything.  

     But even if he thought it was a reasonable basis, if you look at the number of bills that he thinks cluster around these various breakpoints, the 50,000 breakpoint has 363, that's the highlighted area in that line.  And that's the highest of any of them.  

     So if he really believed that these numbers meant something, he would not have checked it -- selected the 50,000.  He would have selected perhaps the 27,000, which only has 46 in that column.  Of course all of the numbers in that column are wrong -- I mean they're correct calculations but they're meaningless calculations.  So this exhibit or this page of the work papers, which seems to be the only thing that Mr. Feingold could point to as being a basis for his picking the 50,000 as a breakpoint, is simply mathematically incorrect.  

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.  Those are my questions in direct examination.  

Mr. Chernick is available for cross-examination.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeVellis.  Other than Mr. Smith, is there any one else who plans to cross-examine this witness. 

     MR. WARREN:  I do, Madam Chair.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Warren.  Anyone else?  

Mr. Smith, why don't you go first.  

     MR. SMITH:  That's fine Madam Chair, but in the ordinary course, the applicant would have the opportunity to go last in the cross-examination.  

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  We will do it that way, Mr. Smith.  That's fine with me.  

     MR. SMITH:  I don't think it's going to matter.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Warren, I'm happy to get the procedural correction.  

Mr. Warren.  

     MR. WARREN:  I told you yesterday, nobody likes to be the first bug on the windscreen. 

     MR. SMITH:  I just wanted to be the windshield wiper, as it was earlier described.  


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. WARREN:
     MR. WARREN:  Mr. Chernick, my name is Robert Warren I'm counsel for the Consumers Council of Canada who represent the interests of the broad array of residential consumers of gas. 

     I have just a few questions for you.  I would like to begin, if I can, with your report at page 30.  That's, for the record, K21, page 30.  

     Do you have it, Mr. Chernick?      

MR. CHERNICK:  Yes. 

     MR. WARREN:  If I look at the first paragraph on that page, I see in the last sentence expressed the following principle:   

“To the extent that rate M2 can be redesigned to segregate customers into more homogeneous groups by cost characteristics, the bills to each group of customers can more closely reflect the 

costs incurred to serve those customers.”  

Have I read that correctly? 

     MR. CHERNICK:  You're on page 30?  

     MR. WARREN:  Yes, I am. 

     MR. CHERNICK:  The last sentence?  

     MR. WARREN:  Last sentence of the first paragraph. 

     MR. CHERNICK:  Yes, okay, that helps.  Yes, you read that correctly.  

     MR. WARREN:  I put that sentence or I characterized that sentence yesterday in my cross-examination of Mr. Feingold as the expression of a principle.  

     He said that he agreed with that.  Do you remember reading that in the transcript. 

     MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.  

     MR. WARREN:  And I then asked Mr. Feingold whether or not he believed that Navigant, in its report and analysis, had complied with that or if his report was consistent with that principle.  And he said that it was.  I take it that you disagree with that; correct?

     MR. CHERNICK:  That's correct, I disagree. 

     MR. WARREN:  Now, if I go down to the succeeding paragraph, I see - and I will express this, if you will allow me, Mr. Chernick, at a high level of generalization 

- that one of the reasons you disagree with what Navigant has done, is that there are differences in load shapes and customer characteristics which would justify splitting classes as broad as the M2.  

     I take it looking at the last paragraph of the -- last 

sentence of the next paragraph, that you don't believe Navigant has done that, and that they have not, in your words, analyzed the real world; is that fair?  

     MR. CHERNICK:  I think it's a fair characterization, yes.  

    MR. WARREN:  Now also on page 31, you indicate that Union has not seriously considered splitting the residential from the large commercial and industrial groups, and that's a criticism that you have; is that right?


MR. CHERNICK:  That's one of them, yes.


MR. WARREN:  And another criticism is that Navigant does not look at the splits below 20,000 metres cubed, and, in particular, has not considered a split below 7,000 metres cubed; is that correct?


MR. CHERNICK:  Right.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  And what you have, again, at a high level of generality, recommended to this Panel of the Board is that there be a further and better study to, among other things, examine those issues or those options which you say Navigant should have examined; is that correct?


MR. CHERNICK:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  Now, I take it, Mr. Chernick, in reading your report, that there is no suggestion that Navigant was biased in some way in its analysis; correct?


MR. CHERNICK:  Well...


MR. WARREN:  You said they're wrong, but I'm asking you whether or not you think they're biased in some way.  I don't see it in your report.  Perhaps you could point me to it if you think that.


MR. CHERNICK:  In terms of a bias, I would say that there seems to be ‑- I don't know what.  "Bias" may sound too pejorative.  A mind set that leans strongly against using customer type as a definition of a rate class.


Also, the fact that Navigant did not look at splits below 20,000, even though this project sort of started with the Board's expressing an interest in splitting off residential from other customers, which would suggest a much lower split in terms of size, even if you were just looking at size, that shows a certain blindness.  Now, whether you want to call that a bias or just a peculiar leaning, I don't know.


MR. WARREN:  Let me be more precise in my questions.  Is there any suggestion in your report that Navigant was driven to achieve a particular result which Union wanted it to achieve?


MR. CHERNICK:  I don't think that it is my place to try and read motivations in this kind of report.  


MR. WARREN:  Well, there's certainly no suggestion of that in your report; is that fair?


MR. CHERNICK:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  You would agree with me that in the business of cost allocation and rate design, that Union is revenue neutral?  They're going to get their money way or another.  They have no particular interest in designing their rates or their cost allocation principles one way or another; is that fair?


MR. CHERNICK:  It doesn't seem like they should have a bottom-line financial interest.  They can have other kinds of interests.


MR. WARREN:  I take it you agree with my question, that they don't have an interest in designing their rates one way or another, because it's revenue neutral.  You agree with that?


MR. CHERNICK:  I said they don't have a bottom-line financial interest.  They may have other interests.


For example, the push to put more of the costs into the customer cost, that's something that utilities generally like, because it gives them more revenue stability.


For the test year, they're probably going to be getting about the same amount of revenues, but they would rather get it in one way than another.


So there are preferences.  There are also just, you know, institutional habits and biases, if you will, of that's the way we've been doing it here for a long time.  We don't want to change it.


MR. WARREN:  I'm sorry, Mr. Chernick, are you making those allegations that Union has put forward its proposal for the split of the M2 rate class based on any of those considerations?  If so, can I find that anywhere in your report?


MR. CHERNICK:  Oh, no.  I'm sorry.  I thought you were asking me whether I could agree with you that they have no interest in one rate design versus another.  And I was just saying, no, I don't really agree with that.  Although you're correct that on sort of an expected-value basis, one rate design versus another probably gives them just about the same amount of money, and so they don't have a direct financial bottom-line interest, in that sense.  But there are lots of other interests involved.


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Chernick, I read your report with some care and I can't find anywhere in your report a statement to the effect that if the Board were to direct ‑‑ that if the Board were to direct a study which did all of the things that you say ought to be done, that it would necessarily result in a more accurate or fairer cost allocation and rate design.  Did I miss something in your report?


MR. CHERNICK:  Well, I don't think I said it that way, but since I don't think that the Navigant study was done very well or that Union's implementation of that study improved on Navigant's work, that I don't think that this particular split has any particular justification.  And if there is a way of taking the M2 rate and breaking it into more homogenous, fairer, more efficient rates, this is unlikely to be it.


MR. WARREN:  Sorry, Mr. Chernick.  I have to approach this at the level of really small steps, because I don't know nearly as much about this as you do.


I am assuming ‑‑ correct me if I'm wrong.  I am assuming that what you want the Board to take from your report, that if it orders that there be a further or better study, that they do what you say they should do, that there is certainty or a high degree of likelihood that we're going to get a better cost allocation and rate design methodology.


I just don't see that anywhere in the report.  And is it the case that you're not certain that this will result in a better rate design and cost allocation?


MR. CHERNICK:  The conclusion might very well be that when you look at customer costs and load factors and trends, and with size, and the differences between types of customers, that if you cut up the rates and design them in a more specific fashion, that they wouldn't be very different and it really doesn't make sense to break up the M2 rate.


Maybe it would change the design within the rate in some way.  That is one possible outcome.  I can't rule that out.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  If I just ask you, Mr. Chernick, if you wouldn't mind, as a segue from that, turning up the response to the first of the interrogatories which my client posed to you.  Madam Chair, for some reason which I can't explain, my copy doesn't have the exhibit number on it.


MR. CHERNICK:  Neither does mine.


MS. NOWINA:  Can anyone help Mr. Warren?  I don't want to go through all of the binders.


MR. WARREN:  I'm a bit tentative about this, because yesterday I got caught not having read a key piece of paper.  The copy I have references K21, but I just don't have the exhibit number.  I assume it is an L exhibit number.  Union's has ‑‑ Union's exhibits are L21, but I don't know what ours are.


MS. NOWINA:  What is the document you're looking for, Mr. Warren?


MR. WARREN:  It's the first of the CCC interrogatories that was posed to -- Interrogatory No. 1.


MS. NOWINA:  That was posed to Mr. Chernick?


MR. WARREN:  That was posed to Mr. Chernick.  I assume it is an L number.


MR. SMITH:  I have number L21.  If it's the first one, it will be L21.1, I assume.


MR. CHERNICK:  That's the first question that Union asked me.


MR. GOULDEN:  Check the back of L21, and then on.


MR. DINGWALL:  L21.11 is the last Union one, and then from the filing it goes into the CCC 1.


MR. SMITH:  There is no number, but it starts the next page.


MR. SCHUCH:  I don't know if it is helpful, but I don't have a reference number or an exhibit number on mine either, but it looks something like this.  It is just a stapled ‑‑


MS. NOWINA:  Do you know how many pages we have, Mr. Schuch?  What it looks like?  How about starting with a binder that you think it might be in.  


MR. SCHUCH:  I didn't get it in a binder or...

     MS. NOWINA:  You didn't get it in a binder?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  May I see that?


MR. GOULDEN:  I believe if you look in L21, it will start with ‑‑


MR. DINGWALL:  13 page of Union IRs.

     MR. GOULDEN:  Then it is the back of that packet.


MS. NOWINA:  I can't find the binder that it is in. 
     MR. SCHUCH:  I would be happy to lend you my copy, panel.  

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That might be easiest.  Thank you.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  We have it.  Or I borrowed 

someone’s. 

     MR. WARREN:  I wonder, Madam Chair, since these are likely to be referred to in argument, if we ought to give them an exhibit number.  I'm going to suggest arbitrarily that since they seem to follow the responses to Union's IRs, that we do it from that point forward.  So the last of the responses to a Union IR is marked L21.11.  Perhaps this first question might be marked L21.12.  I'm being entirely arbitrary in making that up. 

     MS. NOWINA:  It works for me, Mr. Warren.  

     Mr. Schuch?   

     MR. SCHUCH:  I have no objections.  I wonder if Union has any comment. 

     MR. SMITH:  The only comment I have I was wondering if the Chair has a copy of the questions because if not I have an extra that we could provide you with.  

     MS. NOWINA:  I think I do have them.  All right.  We found them.  We actually have a numbered -- we have a numbered one.  We are calling them K21.  K21 is where we have this set of documents.  

     MR. SMITH:  The only problem with K 21 is that's the same number as Mr. Chernick's evidence.  

     MR. CHERNICK:  Unless you want to make it K21.1.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Sorry for the confusion.  All right.  Let's go back to, was it L21 was the suggestion?  I think that works.  

Does that work for everyone?  

     MR. SCHUCH:  The suggestion was L21. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Let's make sure what we're defining at L21.  Somebody give me a description of. 

     MR. SCHUCH:  That would be Schools responses to Consumers Council of Canada interrogatories.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Does that work for everyone?  

     MR. DeVELLIS:  I think it was L21.12.  

     MR. WARREN:  Is the first of them. 

     MS. NOWINA:  L21.12. 

     MR. DeVELLIS:  First one, and then...

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.  Sorry for the 

confusion.  

     EXHIBIT NO. L21.12:  SCHOOLS RESPONSES TO CONSUMERS 
COUNCIL OF CANADA INTERROGATORIES
     MR. WARREN:  After all of this, I can only hope the 

questions are relevant and meaningful, if not significant.  

     Mr. Chernick, with apologies for the delay, the reason I asked you to turn it up was a segue from my earlier question.  

     You were asked in the first question, apropos three 

approaches that you suggested which is the ones they preferred.  

     If I look at A, large letter A, capital A. 

     MR. CHERNICK:  That's answer.  

     MR. WARREN:  Thank you for that.  See, without the Q for question, I'm puzzled.  I told you I had to do things by baby steps, Mr. Chernick, and you're helping me along.  Second sentence, you write:  

“All three approaches may be more effective at separating customers into groups with similar load and cost characteristics.”  

     Have I read that correctly?  

     MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.  

     MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Then in a similar fashion, you write there, in the last sentence of that answer, you say:  

“In general, Mr. Chernick suspects the differentiating residential or perhaps smaller general service, dual fuel and large industrial customers from the remainder of the general service class would be likely to follow at least some of the differences in load patterns and cost of service.”

     Now, I read the words "may be more effective" and "suspects they are to meet" somewhat below the measurable threshold of confidence that, doing what you suggest, will result in a meaningful difference from what Mr. -- sorry, what Navigant has proposed.  Is that fair on my part?  

     MR. CHERNICK:  In that -- I'm not sure what the good study would actually result in, that's correct.  

     MR. WARREN:  Okay, thanks.  Now, my final area of 

examination, Mr. Chernick, is I'm going to refer you to a number of interrogatories, the first of which is actually the next one, which is the second of the CCC interrogatories, which I guess will be Exhibit L21.13.  

     EXHIBIT NO. L21.13:  SECOND CCC INTERROGATORY

     MR. WARREN:  In our new numbering system.  You were asked in that question -- do you have it, Mr. Chernick. 

     MR. CHERNICK:  Yes. 

     MR. WARREN:  You were asked the question:  

“What is Mr. Chernick's specific recommendation how the revenue requirement should be allocated between the new M1 and M2 rates?”      

Your answer is: 

“Since Mr. Chernick does not have a load or cost data or a cost allocation study specific to Union's proposed M1/M2 split, let alone any improved redesign of the existing M2 rate, he cannot make any specific recommendation.” 

     Have I read that correctly?  

     MR. CHERNICK:  That's correct. 

     MR. WARREN:  In like fashion, when I go over to the fifth of the CCC interrogatories, which would now be, I guess, L21.16.


EXHIBIT L21.16:  FIFTH CCC INTERROGATORY  

     MR. WARREN:  You again indicate in response to the 

question:  

“From Mr. Chernick's perspective how many rate classes should Union be splitting the current M2 rate class into?” 

The answer is:   

“Without the necessary load and cost data, Mr. 

Chernick does not know how many rate classes would be appropriate.”  

     Have I read that correctly?  

     MR. CHERNICK:  That's correct.  

     MR. WARREN:  So at least in those two interrogatory 

responses, you indicate that you lacked sufficient data to be able to make certain analyses.  

     Then if I go to the responses to the Union interrogatories, and they are -- the first I would like you to turn to is L21.6.  

     In this answer you were asked the question by Union:   

“Please explain why Resource Insights Inc. is not able to compute the average use per customer for each subclass using the data provided by Union.”  

     Your answer is: 

“The data was provided in PDF image files, seven days before the evidence was due.  Since Union's responses are provided as images not in the original spreadsheet form or as text-based Acrobat files, Mr. Chernick has not been able to 

compute the average use.”      

So I take it that the burden of your response there is that you didn't get the information in the correct form and that you lacked specific -- enough time to do an analysis.  Is that fair? 

     MR. CHERNICK:  That's correct.  

     MR. WARREN:  Then finally, if I look at L 21.11 and I look at (d), you were asked by Union to provide rate design – sorry, you were asked by Union to provide certain information.  And you answer -- this time you trick us.  You use the word “response” as opposed to letter A: 

“Given the short time period the limited data 

available and Union's decision to provide the data in a format that cannot be used in computations, Mr. Chernick has not 

developed the complete rate-design proposal as requested in parts, 1, 2, 3 and 5of this question.”  

     So I take it, having looked at those questions and answers, that it was a function -- that your inability to provide specific analyses was that you lacked the data, that you lacked the data in the appropriate form, and that you didn't have sufficient time to, in effect, substantiate your critique and make your own proposal.  Is that fair?  

     MR. CHERNICK:  Well, to make my own proposal.  

     MR. WARREN:  Okay.  

     MR. CHERNICK:  I think my critique is pretty well 

substantiated.  

     MR. WARREN:  There's not much ambiguity about your critique.  But you lacked time and data and data in the right form in order to make your own proposal.  Is that fair?  

     MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.  

     MR. WARREN:  Now, I just want to check, if I can, Mr. 

Chernick, with the chronology.  Can you tell me when it is that you received the Navigant and Union pre-filed evidence?  Do you know the date?  

     MR. CHERNICK:  No, I can't off-hand.  I would have to check the date of the e-mail.  I think it was attached to the RFP from the Schools.  And we've provided that in discovery.  But I don't remember the date specifically.  I could get that for you, if you really wanted it.


MR. WARREN:  Well, let me just ask a few more questions as a follow-up to that.  I take it when you received this evidence and read it, that you were aware, when you read it, that there were a substantial number of deficiencies in the analysis that was done by Navigant; is that fair?


MR. CHERNICK:  When I first read it, I had a number of questions.  I think the deficiencies became clearer when I got the responses to discovery.  In many cases, it's difficult to tell from a summary report exactly what was being done and...

     MR. WARREN:  Let me ask you --


MR. CHERNICK:  For example, I think the specific break points that Navigant looked at as alternatives, I don't think we found those out until we got the discovery responses.  So there were a lot of things where I didn't know, when I read the report, what my critiques would be.  There were questions.


MR. WARREN:  Well, let me ask you to turn up your response to Union Interrogatory No. 11, which is Exhibit L21.11.


Do you have that, Mr. Chernick?


MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  You were asked there to provide a complete list of what additional data would be required to complete the analysis.


You have, on page 13, listed a substantial number of items of data that you require.  Now, in your ‑‑ having read the Navigant report, did you ask for that data in your interrogatories to Union?


MR. CHERNICK:  I'm sorry, which ‑‑ you were referring on page 11?


MR. WARREN:  Sorry, L21.11.  It's sub-answer F.


MR. CHERNICK:  Oh, I'm sorry.


MR. WARREN:  Page 13.  You list data that, I take it from your response, is the data you need in order to complete your analysis.


My question is:  Did you ask Union to provide you with this data?


MR. CHERNICK:  Well, item 1, I expected to get data in a useable form.  I expected to get more information on a number of these in the discovery, in asking for the information that Navigant used, but Navigant wasn't always using data of the form that I expected.


I would have to check.  I don't think that I asked for most of the load data.  I think that I asked for some of the data in item number 4.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.


MR. CHERNICK:  I haven't really done a comparison.


MR. WARREN:  Well, the reason I ask the question is that you don't have a proposal in your report.  You indicate, in response to interrogatory questions, that you lack data.


I take it that the page you and I are looking at, page 13, contains the data you need.  So my question is:  Why would you not have asked Union to provide you all of the data that you need to substantiate your critique?


MR. CHERNICK:  I don't think I needed any more data to substantiate my critique.


MR. WARREN:  Why did you not ask Union for more data in order to make a proposal before asking the Board to embark upon and order Union to embark upon a further and better report.


MR. CHERNICK:  You're asking why did I not, myself, embark on a further and better report?


MR. WARREN:  No.  Sorry, Mr. Chernick, that's not the question I asked.  The question is:  Why didn't you ask Union to provide the data that you felt you needed in order to make a proposal or, to use my term, in order to demonstrate to the Board that doing the analysis which you say needs to be done would result in a more meaningful or a fairer cost allocation rate design proposal?  Why didn't you ask for the data?


MR. CHERNICK:  Well, first of all, if I had asked for all of this data and had gotten it, a week before my evidence was due, the probability that I would have been able to do much more than I did in my evidence is very low.


If, like Navigant, I were given eight months from the time that I got the data and I had the ability to call up people at Union and ask them questions about the data, and ask them for additional information where there were things missing, then I could ‑‑ I could certainly do what I've laid out.


But there was no point in asking for this level of detail first until I saw what Navigant had done and saw how bad that was, and understood that much of their analysis simply had to be thrown out and you had to start over again.  And there was no point in my asking for it if it were data that I wouldn't possibly have time to turn into an analysis that would be useful to the Board in a week.


And we were doing this on a very tight schedule, and the question I was asked by my client was:  Was this a good job?  Was this responsive to the charge from the Board?  Did Navigant and Union come up with a split of the M2 rate that's based on good cost causation principles?


I looked at it and I said, no, they didn't, and I recommended that they be sent back to do it again and that the Board provide enough input to Union so that Union does a better job, or, if necessary, maybe takes the responsibility away from Union and gives it to a party selected by the ‑‑ a consultant perhaps selected by the Board.


MR. WARREN:  Let me see if I can parse the answer so that I understand it.  You didn't ask for the data, which you say is essential, because you didn't think that you would get it in time to be able to use it; is that right?


MR. CHERNICK:  That's right.


MR. WARREN:  And I take it that you ‑‑ all right.  Let's leave it at that.


Did you indicate to your counsel that you wanted more time in order to prepare your report?


MR. CHERNICK:  Well, I was dealing, to some extent, directly with Mr. DeVellis.  I was dealing more with Mr. Seal, a consultant to the School Energy Coalition.  He was my direct supervisor for most of this project.


I know that I raised the issue with him about whether the schedule was mutable in any way, given the amount of time pressure we were under, and his response was, that's the Board's schedule and we'll do what we can for them in that time.


MR. WARREN:  And my final question to you, sir, is:  I take it from your earlier answer to ‑‑ sorry, your answer to my earlier question, that if you had all of the data that you say you need, which is listed on page 13 of your interrogatory response at L21.11, if you had all of that data and you did all of the analysis that you say needs to be done, you don't know whether or not you would reach a result which is different from the one that Navigant has reached; is that fair?


MR. CHERNICK:  I think it is very likely that I would, but I don't know for sure.


MR. WARREN:  But you don't know.  All right, those are my questions.  Thanks very much.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.  Mr. Smith, my normal course of things would be you would go next, and then Mr. Millar.  Are you all right with that?


MR. SMITH:  Quite all right.  I'm not aware of any procedural obstacles I can put in your way, so I guess I'm stuck.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Let's do it that way. 


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. SMITH:  

     MR. SMITH:  Mr. Chernick my name is Crawford Smith, I 

represent Union Gas.  Good afternoon. 

     MR. CHERNICK:  Good afternoon. 

     MR. SMITH:  I would like to pick up, if I may, sir, where Mr. Warren left off.  I had asked your counsel for a copy of the e-mail that you referred to in your testimony, that being the request for proposal.  I would like to distribute that and have that marked an exhibit, if I may.  

     MR. MILLAR:  That's Exhibit M3.1, Madam Chair.  

     EXHIBIT NO. M3.1:  REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL 

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  

     MR. MSITH: This is the e-mail you referred to from Mr. Seal?       

MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.  

     MR. SMITH:  It was sent to you and possibly to others on March 6th, 2006 late in the evening.  

     MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.  Quite late.  

     MR. SMITH:  Yes.  You indicated that you -- your 

recollection was that the Navigant report and Union's proposal was attached to that e-mail.  Do you recall that?  

     MR. CHERNICK:  That's my recollection. 

     MR. SMITH:  In fact, if you look at the first -- the end of the IRs paragraph, you will see that - your recollection is quite correct - and you were provided with a copy of the report in Union's proposal at that time.  

     MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.  

     MR. SMITH:  Now, you indicated to my friend, Mr. Warren, that you were asked by your client whether or not Union and Navigant had done a good job.  Those were your words; correct?  

     MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.  

     MR. SMITH:  That's, I'm going to suggest to you, not quite correct as to what you were asked to do.  

     If you look at, sir, the proposal, you will see, in my 

submission, you were asked to do at least two things.  

     In the first line of the second paragraph: 

“SEC is seeking expert assistance in reviewing Union's proposal and the report of its consultant, providing evidence critiquing the proposal and possibly proposing an alternate rate design which is an improvement of on the proposal put forward by the company.”  

     Stopping there.  I take it you would agree with me that the first thing they were asking you for was a critique of what had been done?  

     MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.  The first two items are really the critique.  You have to review the material in order to critique it.  

     MR. SMITH:  Well, the second item is to, if possible, 

propose an alternate rate design.  

     MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.  

     MR. SMITH:  So I take it you would agree that Schools was looking to you, if possible, to put forward something different and something better.  

     MR. CHERNICK:  If possible.  

     MR. SMITH:  And you haven't done that?  

     MR. CHERNICK:  No.  

     MR. SMITH:  And if you look, again, at the request for 

proposal, in the first paragraph it says, at the second last sentence:   

“SEC is concerned that the company's proposal may not be based on sound rate design principles, and may adversely impact its clients.”  

     You saw that?  

     MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.  

     MR. SMITH:  And I take it "may adversely impact its clients" is code for:  Our rate is going to go up.  

     MR. CHERNICK:  I would assume that that is what Mr. Seal meant when he said that.  

     MR. SMITH:  Well, I take it when you reviewed Navigant's work, you were aware that the outcome of the work is that, and Union's adoption of that proposal, is that the rate experienced by constituents of the School Energy Coalition is going to increase.  

     MR. CHERNICK:  Well, actually, I don't know, because I 

haven't taken the data that was provided on the size of the 

Schools and tried to map that on to the effects of the proposed split.  So I can't answer that question unless it is answered somewhere else. 

     MR. SMITH:  Mr. Chernick, are you aware of the make-up of the School Energy Coalition, of its members, the consumption pattern?  

     MR. CHERNICK:  Some of them are at the high end of what would be the new M1 rate, and some of them are in the lower part of the M2 rate, as I recall.  

     MR. SMITH:  I take it you are aware, either through this process or speaking to Mr. Seal, that what Mr. Kitchen said is correct, which is that over half the customers in the School Energy Coalition consume more than 30,000 cubic metres.  You are aware of that?  

     MR. CHERNICK:  Not off-hand, although I've got a table 

some place back in my office that has the annual usage for the -- for each of the members of the coalition or perhaps each of the schools served under the M2 rate, I'm not sure.  

     MR. SMITH:  Do you have Exhibit 2.4 with you, in front 

of you there?  

     MR. CHERNICK:  Exhibit 2.4?  

     MR. SMITH:  It was an undertaking that was given by Union Gas.  U2.4.  

     MR. CHERNICK:  Was that handed out today?  Oh, yes, I do have U2.4, yes. 

     MR. SMITH:  If I ask you to look at page 2 of 5, Mr. 

Chernick, you will see at line 23 that at approximately 30,000 cubic metres, you will see on the right-hand side, the percentage change goes from a rate reduction to a rate increase.  

     MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.  

     MR. SMITH:  And that would be -- 

     MR. CHERNICK:  Oh, at 30,000, yes.  

     MR. SMITH:  Correct.  That will be experienced by members of the School Energy Coalition?  

     MR. CHERNICK:  Again, assuming that -- but those members were above the 30,000 that would apply to, yes, yes.  I really didn't look at it.  

     MR. SMITH:  Well, I take it from Mr. Seal's e-mail, that he at least was aware of that possibility?  

     MR. CHERNICK:  Well, I'm not sure what he was aware of.  I asked him -- before I submitted the proposal, I asked him whether there were particular issues of concern, in terms of protecting larger customers or smaller customers.  And the answer that I got was, We have members above and below the split.  And we're not asking you to particularly defend any particular customers' interests.  We want you to address the issue of whether the proposal is based on sound rate-design principles or words to that effect.  

     And you tell us whether it is a good proposal.  And don't worry about whether the fact -- whether changing it in one way or another would help one school and hurt another school.  

     MR. SMITH:  Well, be that as it may, Mr. Chernick, I take it Mr. Seal was aware at least when he wrote the 

e-mail that the proposal may adversely impact its clients.  By that, you agree with me the rate could go up. 

     MR. CHERNICK:  Sure.  As soon as you find out the utility has designed a rate redesign that could affect your clients, you know there is some possibility they will be adversely affected, that their rates might go up. 

     MR. SMITH:  And you received this in the evening of March 6th, so call it March 7.  And I take it you responded to this request for proposal?  

     MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.  

     MR. SMITH:  That is found at exhibit, I believe, L21.3.  Yes. 

     MR. CHERNICK:  Yes. 

     MR. SMITH:  So two days later you responded to the request for proposal?  

     MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.  

     MR. SMITH:  You said to my friend, Mr. Warren, that you had questions.  What you're able to express two days later to Mr. Seal is you have a number of concerns, do you see that?  

     MR. CHERNICK:  Actually, I don't have a copy of the attachment to question 21.3. 

     MR. SMITH:  I'm happy to provide you with one.  It's been underlined, but...

     MR. CHERNICK:  Thank you.  

     MR. SMITH:  I can't believe that is going to be to your disadvantage.  

     MS. NOWINA:  We don't have it, Mr. Smith.


MR. SMITH:  I have it as a response to an interrogatory asked by Union Gas.  Oh, no, I apologize.


MS. NOWINA:  We have the response to the interrogatory, but we don't have the attachment.


MR. SMITH:  It should be at the very back, Madam Chair.  It may be at the very back.  It seems a bit out of order, but it may be at the very back.  It is a letter from Resource Insight dated March 9, 2006.


Do you have that?


MS. NOWINA:  We don't.  Why don't you read the appropriate parts into the record?


MR. SMITH:  Well, there are only two portions I will be reading.  The letter, which is dated March 9 ‑‑


MS. NOWINA:  I now have a copy, Mr. Smith.  I have it.  Thank you.  We probably have your copy.


MR. SMITH:  Well, that's okay.  You don't.  I'm sure Mr. Thompson does.


[Laughter]


MR. SMITH:  The question, Mr. Chernick, was simply that two days later you were able to respond expressing concerns with the proposal.  Do you see that?


MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And of course those concerns have continued and you have criticized the work done by Navigant and by Union; that's fair?


MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And I think it is fair to say that you've done so in quite forceful language.


MR. CHERNICK:  Well, I try to be clear.


MR. SMITH:  Okay.  As Mr. Warren identified, we do not have, nor does this Board have, the benefit of an alternate proposal from you.


MR. CHERNICK:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  What I understand to be your recommendation is that Union redo its analysis?


MR. CHERNICK:  Yes, essentially.


MR. SMITH:  And, further, I understand that what you would like to have occur is that Union consult with parties regarding how that analysis will take place?


MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.  I think there were a lot of obvious questions that weren't asked in the preparation of the Navigant study, and that if Union did a similar study that responded to some good questions, then we would get a better answer.


MR. SMITH:  And would you agree with me that many of the questions you're referring to are set out in your report in your answers to interrogatories?


MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  I take it the method of consultation is not set out in your report?


MR. CHERNICK:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  I take it you would also agree that, to the extent consultation takes place, fairly it should include representatives of all customer groups who take service presently under the M2 rate class?


MR. CHERNICK:  At least those who are concerned about this issue.  I'm not sure ‑‑ I wouldn't drag everybody in, but if they're concerned, they should certainly be free to monitor the process and raise issues, as time goes on, and see whether they can get answers.


MR. SMITH:  Before we go on to that, you indicated a moment ago that another possibility might be for the Board to take over the study and to direct another consultant to do that work.  Is that also your recommendation?


MR. CHERNICK:  Well, it wasn't my recommendation until I read the transcript from yesterday, in which Mr. Kitchen seemed to say that, in his opinion, Union could not do a better study and would not do anything different if it were ordered, or he wasn't sure that they would do anything better.


And I think given the clarity of the questions that I've raised, and the errors that I have pointed out and Union's inability to answer some of these questions like, Well, what would be the effect of splitting out a residential class given its different load shapes and different customer costs, that it's sort of depressing to hear a utility official say, If the Board tells us to go back and do a better job and answer these kinds of questions, I'm not sure we'd do it.


So if that's ‑‑ if he's serious about that, then the Board might really have to find some other way of moving the ball forward.  Football analogies are okay in Canada, aren't they?


MR. SMITH:  Yes.  You get three of them.  So, Mr. Chernick, I take it, returning to where I was before, that the members of this group that might consult would include Mr. Warren's clients, CCC?


MR. CHERNICK:  I take it CCC would want to be there.


MR. SMITH:  And the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition would be there?  They also include residential customers.


MR. CHERNICK:  Well, I think, if they want to be there, they should have that opportunity.


MR. SMITH:  And LPMA might also be there, the London Property Management group, whose customers also include M2 customers?


MR. CHERNICK:  If they have concerns.


MR. SMITH:  And the Low‑Income Energy Network, which represents low‑income residential customers, they might be there, as well?


MR. CHERNICK:  Well, there seems to be some redundancy between a couple of those groups.  Perhaps they could ‑‑


MR. SMITH:  I won't engage you on that point --


[Laughter]


MR. SMITH:  -- as I may share the same view.  However, going down ‑‑


MR. CHERNICK:  My experience is that in these kinds of situations, you usually find that not everybody, not all of the parties who are affected by some program or provision want to show up and do show up at proceedings.  Your experience may be different in, say, the DSM consultations.  But in my experience, not every party to a rate proceeding will show up at these kinds of consultations.


In particular, if you circulate working documents and request comments, many parties would be happy to just sort of monitor the situation and see whether there is anything that they want to raise, and many of them won't, in fact, come up with anything to raise.  But they could do --


MR. SMITH:  They certainly could.


MR. CHERNICK:  They could.


MR. SMITH:  And they may all participate.


MR. CHERNICK:  They could.


MR. SMITH:  I take it you would agree with me that --


MR. CHERNICK:  It probably depends on the quality of the donuts you serve at the meetings.


MR. SMITH:  As a general proposition, I take it you would agree with me rate design is a zero-sum game?


MR. CHERNICK:  Well, if rate design is giving customers signals about usage and usage patterns, it is not zero sum, because it has an effect on the efficiency of the customer's responses.


MR. SMITH:  Apart from DSM considerations.


MR. CHERNICK:  Or the customer responses.  They might participate in DSM programs.  They might just turn down the thermostat a little bit, whatever.  But aside from that, before the customers start to respond, you're taking a revenue requirement, dividing it across the classes - that's cost allocation - and then dividing it within the class, and that's rate design.


MR. SMITH:  And I take it you would agree that at a given level of costs, an increase in one customer's group will result in a decrease to another customer group?


MR. CHERNICK:  That's generally the case.


MR. SMITH:  Yes.  I take it that in any consultation, it would be reasonable to assume that a customer group would want to advance their own self‑interest?


MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And that self‑interest would be a motivation to have the lowest rate possible for that group?


MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And assuming one party is not prepared to abandon it its self‑interest, Mr. Chernick, I take it that would result in disagreement between parties?


MR. CHERNICK:  Well, it could certainly result in disagreement between parties as to a recommendation to the Board, and then the Board might have before it a technical report which lays out data on load factors and customer sizes and customer costs, and so on; that the parties have all basically agreed this is the best we can do, and they all understand what the numbers are.  Then they argue you should put a bigger weight on this factor than that factor, and, by the way, that helps my client.  Another party is arguing that you should give a greater weight to some other factor.  


But at least the Board would have a common analysis, and the parties would not be in the position that the Schools are in here of saying:  We see lots of errors.  We see lots of omissions, and this report is simply wrong and incomplete.


MR. SMITH:  Mr. Chernick, perhaps you've anticipated my question, but assuming a dispute between the parties regarding the appropriate rate design principles to apply, I take it what you're saying is, this board would be the adjudicator?


MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.  I think that is what we're doing in this hearing right here.  And that's what would happen, assuming that the parties came up with different policy recommendations from the same facts.  

     MR. SMITH:  All right.  So just to follow that through.  Assuming this Board adopts your recommendation, which, as Mr. Warren elicited, you're not sure is going to lead to a different result?  Correct?  

     MR. CHERNICK:  There is a lot of things in life I'm not sure about.  

     MR. SMITH:  And what might then occur is a consultation; correct?  

     MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.  

     MR. SMITH:  Amongst potentially all of the interested 

parties?  

     MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.  

     MR. SMITH:  The only one of whom doesn't have a financial interest is Union.  

     MR. CHERNICK:  That's correct.  

     MR. SMITH:  And if there is a disagreement between the 

parties, we will be back before the Board for a resolution; 

correct?  

     MR. CHERNICK:  That's correct.  

     MR. SMITH:  Okay.  I would like to just return to the 

timing, if I may, of when you received these materials.  

     I understand, from what you told Mr. Warren, that you didn't have the right data; you didn't have the data in the right form; and you didn't have time; correct?  

     MR. CHERNICK:  Correct.  

     MR. SMITH:  Now, today, you certainly have all of the data that Union has; correct?  

     MR. CHERNICK:  I don't know whether that is the case or not.  I have a number of files that were sent to me last week.  I haven't had a chance to look through those and find out what they are.  There are dozens of them and they may have some useful information.  They may have -- that wasn't in the image files.  They may have the data from the image files in a more useable form.  I really don't know.  

     MR. SMITH:  To the extent you were retained in March and that has led, as you say, to a time crunch and an inability to put forward an alternate rate proposal, I take it you are aware that the School Energy Coalition, at least, had the Navigant report and Union's proposal for at least three months before you were retained?  

     MR. CHERNICK:  I haven't checked the date of filing.  

     MR. SMITH:  Well, just to help you out.  The e-mail request for proposal dated March 6th attaches the Navigant report; correct?  

     MR. CHERNICK:  That's correct.  

     MR. SMITH:  And the Navigant report is dated December ‘05?  

     MR. CHERNICK:  That's correct.  

     MR. SMITH:  You're not aware of any particular reason why the School Energy Coalition could not have retained you any earlier?  

     MR. CHERNICK:  No. 

     MR. SMITH:  So to the extent you were retained late, and that lateness has led to an inability to put forward an alternate rate proposal, the fault of that would fall with the School Energy Coalition?  

     MR. CHERNICK:  Well, I don't know enough about the rest of the procedural schedule to say whether we would have been able to -- first of all, I suppose you're telling me that the filing came in, in December.  This is not a fact that I concern myself with.  Obviously the date of the Navigant report and the date it was filed with the Board could be substantially different.  

But assuming that this case was filed in December, I don't know when we would have been able to file interrogatories and when we would have gotten responses to those interrogatories.  

     If I had had -- if I had started working January and had the data in February, then I might very well have been able to do more than I did, especially if I had the spreadsheets.  

     MR. SMITH:  I take that as a long way of agreeing with me.       

MR. CHERNICK:  Well, again maybe.  I don't know whether --      

MR. SMITH:  You don't know when it was filed?  

     MR. CHERNICK:  And I don't know whether there were earlier rounds of interrogatories and when we would have gotten the responses and what form the data would have been in, and so on.  But I probably could have done something more.  I don't know.       

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Mr. Chernick, just turning briefly to the issue of load factor.  I take it you would agree with me load factor is an appropriate consideration in the design of rates?  

     MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.  

     MR. SMITH:  And along with volume or load, those would be the two primary considerations?  

     MR. CHERNICK:  Well, load itself is not a driving factor in determining rate design.  Obviously it's the thing that you are charging for.  It is your billing determinant.  And somehow you have to take your various costs and cost determinants and turn those into something that you can charge per cubic metre.  And the two driving factors would, in this particular situation -- though the things that vary between customers between groups of 

customers would be load factor and customer costs.  

     MR. SMITH:  So just considering the issue of load factor.  I take it, from what you've -- well, load factor, will you agree that load factor can be expressed as a ratio of average daily use to peak day use?  

     MR. CHERNICK:  Yes. 

     MR. SMITH:  And I take it you are aware that this was the interpretation used by Navigant?  

     MR. CHERNICK:  Well, it's not a calculation that they did.  

     MR. SMITH:  We'll come to that.  

     MR. CHERNICK:  But I think that Mr. Feingold understands what a load factor is, yes.  

     MR. SMITH:  And you are aware that Navigant calculated load factor by looking at the average daily use by subclass during February?  

     MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.  Instead of a peak day.  

     MR. SMITH:  And I take it, from what you've said to your counsel and what you have written, that you disagree with the appropriateness of this calculation by Navigant?  

     MR. CHERNICK:  Yes. 

     MR. SMITH:  And I looked in I don't remember report, but I did not find an alternate proxy for load factor.  Correct?  

     MR. CHERNICK:  Well, the point is that you want to estimate load factor for a class or a group of customers.  You want to estimate the real load factor.  

     And you can approach that in a number of ways.  One is, most utilities -- I don't know about Union's experience along these lines -- most utilities have some metering of customers for the purpose of load research, for developing cost-allocation studies.  

     MR. SMITH:  Well, Mr. Chernick, I take what you're saying is -- and what you say in your report, because there isn't an alternate proxy that you put forward.  

     What you say, in response to the interrogatories, is that you need to obtain additional data specific to the load characteristics of each customer group within the M2 class; correct? 

     MR. CHERNICK:  Right.  And those can be -- I was going 

through the processes by which those can be developed and there are others, but without an opportunity to discuss with Union what kinds of data they have, and without enough time to analyze it if I got it, I haven't been able to do any of that.  

     MR. SMITH:  You are aware from sitting here today that Union doesn't have the data that you say is necessary.  

     MR. CHERNICK:  I don't.  I am not aware of that.  

     What I am aware of is that Union says that it does not meter each of its - I believe it was 900,000 - residential customers on a daily basis.  

     I assumed that was true from the beginning.  I don't know of any gas utility that does that.  I can't think of any electric utility that does it.  

     What I don't know is what kind of load research data the company has.  I don't know what kind of data -- I suspect that the company has data for each customer on monthly usage, and therefore can look at more than just the February to -- or the annual average use divided by February average use and can look at how usage rises from month-to-month and can, therefore -- can estimate balance point, which I talk about in my report.  And therefore the point at which the customer starts using gas for 

heating.  

     MR. SMITH:  Mr. Chernick, did you ask Union for any of this?  

     MR. CHERNICK:  No.  


MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  Just as a final matter, I won't spend much time on it because of your answer to your counsel in examination in‑chief.  But if you turn up in your curriculum vitae, which is Exhibit PLC‑1, do you have that?


MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  Members of the Panel, do you have that?


MS. NOWINA:  We do.


MR. SMITH:  I take it this is your current curriculum vitae?


MR. CHERNICK:  I think it includes my latest piece of filed testimony.


MR. SMITH:  And I take it that you would agree that it provides an accurate representation of your qualifications and professional experience?


MR. CHERNICK:  Is this a test of my modesty?  It certainly illustrates the kinds of subjects that I have dealt with.  There are other things that I have done that haven't produced individual products and aren't in here, and, in looking at some of these descriptions, you wouldn't know exactly what I did on that particular topic.  So you might either overestimate or underestimate my familiarity with a particular point.


So I wouldn't say it as strongly as you did, but I think it tells you a lot about what I have done and what I know.


MR. SMITH:  I was just assuming it was a fair representation of what you have done; fair?


MR. CHERNICK:  Okay.


MR. SMITH:  And I take it from your CV ‑ and you made this point in your report ‑ that you have testified on over 200 occasions.


MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And I take it you made those statements to convey to this Board your view that you're qualified to provide expert evidence?


MR. CHERNICK:  Well, at one level I made that statement because I make a statement like that at the beginning of every piece of testimony that I file, and I didn't really think about whether it belonged in here or not.


MR. SMITH:  Well, you must ‑‑


MR. CHERNICK:  It is a matter of qualifications, yes.


MR. SMITH:  Yes, okay.  You were asked an interrogatory specifically, Mr. Chernick, of the 211 times you have testified, how many times have you testified in respect -- directly in respect of cost allocation and rate design.  Do you recall that?


MR. CHERNICK:  I recall a question about cost allocation and rate design for gas utilities.


MR. SMITH:  That's correct.  That was L21.2.


MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  If you turn that up, you list there six occasions, of the 211 times which you have testified, in which your testimony has related directly to gas rate design and cost allocation, excluding DSM; correct?


MR. CHERNICK:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  If I look at the second and third bullet points, those are instances where you testified for the Massachusetts Attorney General; is that correct?


MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And that was your former employer?


MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.  At that point, that was about 15 years.


MR. SMITH:  You had left them.


MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  You testified in response to cost allocation questions; correct?


MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  Similarly, if you look at the fifth bullet point, that was also testimony for the Berkshire Gas Company in Massachusetts Attorney General; do you see that?


MR. CHERNICK:  Right.


MR. SMITH:  That was also on the issue of cost allocation?


MR. CHERNICK:  Right.


MR. SMITH:  So of the 211 times in which you indicate you have testified, three of them are instances of which you've testified directly in relation to natural gas rate design; correct?


MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  Now, is it fair to say you have never testified before this Board on the issue of rate design?


MR. CHERNICK:  Not on gas rate design, yes.


MR. SMITH:  To the extent you have testified in front of this Board, it's been largely in relation to DSM; correct?


MR. CHERNICK:  Yes, although I have also testified on other ‑- on rate design issues in the electric side.


MR. SMITH:  I don't propose to go through it in detail, Mr. Chernick, but when I read the rather lengthy and impressive list of publications that you have written, is it fair to say, sir, that DSM is a significant, indeed a majority of your practice?


MR. CHERNICK:  Well, it's a majority of my publications.


MR. SMITH:  By way of example, only, when I looked at page 8 of your list of presentations, by my count, every publication on that page is related to DSM.


MR. CHERNICK:  And environmental externalities which affect other planning issues, as well, and other aspects of lease cost planning.  But certainly the bulk of the issues being discussed on page 8 were DSM.


MR. SMITH:  Well, and elsewhere in your publications, there are any number of DSM ‑‑


MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.  My publications are certainly heavily DSM weighted.  My current work is much less heavily DSM related.


MR. SMITH:  Am I correct that to the extent you have testified before this Board on DSM, that was at the instance of the Green Energy Coalition; correct?


MR. CHERNICK:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Mr. Chernick, those are my questions.  Thank you very much.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Millar?


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  My friends have been quite thorough and I don't have any additional questions for this witness.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Mr. DeVellis.


MR. DeVELLIS:  I have no questions on redirect, Madam Chair.


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:

MS. NOWINA:  One question, Mr. Chernick.


Your recommendation to us is that we ask the applicant to do another study.  That will take some time.


In the interim, do you have reason to believe that the proposal they have given us is an improvement over the current situation, which is having one rate class for all of these customers?


MR. CHERNICK:  No.  And as I believe one of the company's witnesses said earlier, it's not a good idea to split a rate and a year or two later split a rate again, certainly not if ‑‑ I mean, it is one thing, I suppose, if you know you're going in that direction and you're introducing specific changes and you can tell people this is the first step of the process.  But I think it just gets confusing to say, Oh, now you were on M2 and now you're on M1.  Now you're on rate R7.


So I would be reluctant to implement the changes recommended at this time.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Chernick.  You are excused.  Thanks very much for your time.

PROCEDURAL MATTERS:  


Let's do a logistics check at this point.  It is 15 minutes past 3 o'clock.  We had planned ‑‑ we have planned this afternoon to have the cross‑examination of Mr. Adams.


The Board Panel is prepared to stay and whatever length of time that takes.  Can parties give me an indication of who would be cross‑examining Mr. Adams and how much time we anticipate that we will take?


MR. SMITH:  I will be -- I don't expect to be more than 10 minutes, maybe 15.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.


MR. WARREN:  I will not be, Madam Chair.


MS. DeMARCO:  I will be, Madam, Chair, and I don't expect I will be much longer than 10 or 15 minutes, although I do want to raise some issues about the book of materials that has been recently submitted, and I have not had a chance to go through that.


MS. NOWINA:  All right, Ms. DeMarco.  That means you need a break before we proceed?


MS. DeMARCO:  I would imagine it would be more Mr. Adams who would like to review the book of materials, but I am not certain.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.  


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Buonaguro?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, I will be cross‑examining.  I'm starting to feel compelled to keep it to 15 minutes to be average.  My current list is probably longer than that, but I can work on it.


MS. NOWINA:  I want your accurate estimate, Mr. Buonaguro.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Probably 20 minutes.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.


MR. DINGWALL:  I anticipate about 15 minutes for Mr. Adams.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. MacIntosh, are you going to do examination in‑chief?


MR. MacINTOSH:  I am. 

     MS. NOWINA:  How much time do you think you will take? 

     MR. MacINTOSH:  Probably not more than half an hour.  However, Madam Chair, I do have a submission on this matter that we would ask you to address before break.

We note that Union has prepared an unnumbered bundle of cross-examination materials which Energy Probe was able to obtain during the lunch break today.  It includes over 100 pages of material.  Although all of the material has been before the Board perhaps the bulk of it has been before the Board three years ago.  

     In fairness to the witness, he should have an opportunity to review this material prior to 

cross-examination.  

     In addition, Mr. Smith has now filed a report including reference to customer preferences concerning price smoothing and a fixed price offering, examined at the Natural Gas Forum.  

     I'm reminded of Mr. Smith's submissions on May 23rd at the time that both Ms. DeMarco and Mr. Adams offered packages of materials for cross-examination.  

     The submission is at page 91 of the transcript May 23rd, beginning at line 13.  There may be no reason to turn to it, because I can read it to you.  

     Mr. Smith opined, and I quote:   

"But I would say that my understanding is, in any event, that the packages, to the extent 

possible, that will be submitted for 

cross-examination, shall be done; that package should be done in advance of the day on 

which the witness is called."

     Mr. Smith goes on at line 21, at page 91 of that same 

transcript to request:   

"And let me read his request to you, Madam Chair.  His request was, and I quote:  ‘But I would ask 

that if people intend to put to Union's rate design witnesses materials that are not in the record, that I would invite them to provide me with copies tomorrow if at all possible."

     End of quote.  

     So Mr. Smith set the bar, as it were, of having such 

packages a day ahead so as not to disadvantage his witnesses.  And yet it appears that Mr. Smith has failed to meet his own test of fairness for witnesses.  

     While we're on the subject of this latest offering of evidence, for clarity, Madam Chair, I believe this new evidence entered as U2.3 should be more properly entered as a correction to Union's response to Energy Probe's interrogatory J10.08.  I'm turning to tab 2 of our materials, and I will read it to you so you don't have to turn to it.  

     This is Exhibit J10.08, issue 316, appropriateness of the gas costs risk management program.  And the question was:   

“Please produce any public opinion surveys Union has commissioned dealing with the risk management.”  

And the response of Union was:   

“Union has not commissioned any public opinion survey specifically dealing with risk management.”  

     So even though they believe that they had answered that correctly, it would appear they had not done so.  And this material was in their possession for -- since 2004, and I realize they have rushed it to us today, but we feel that our witness has been disadvantaged.  

     So I submit that this matter should be put over until Monday or Tuesday, as the panel sees fit, thus allowing the witness time to prepare before appearing.  

     In addition, if Mr. Adams is not finished today, he will be unavailable to me in the preparation of argument over the weekend.  For these three reasons, we ask that Mr. Adams begin his presentation of evidence on Monday and those are my submissions, Madam Chair.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. MacIntosh.  Before I ask other people for submissions, I will tell you what the Board panel is prepared to do, and if I hear submissions that people want to continue on Friday afternoon, then you may make those submissions.  We're prepared to have Mr. Adams cross-examination on Monday and hear argument on Thursday.  

     So if I can have submissions on how that would work.  

     MR. SMITH:  Well, Madam Chair, I mean I would be -- I would be simply not stating the truth if I said that I didn't have the time available.  Obviously I was anticipating a three-week hearing before we substantially settled this matter so my calendar is clear.  So we can obviously accommodate that.  

     I would like to respond, though, to Mr. MacIntosh's 

submissions.  I understand the hour is late that and for that reason alone it may warrant putting the matter over, I can appreciate that.  From Union's perspective, obviously we want to get on with it and we would like to have the matter heard and we're prepared to sit here today.  

     With respect to the materials presented to Mr. Adams, he's quite correct, I did say that.  I can also advise Mr. Adams that it's not my -- in fact, my intention to put any of the documents in the cross-examination package to him which is why I didn't want them marked, because I do not intend to go through them line-by-line, nor do I expect Mr. Adams to have a complete recall of three years ago.  

     You will know, and this is tipping my hand in argument, but you will know it is Union's position that this matter should not have been on the issues list.  That the matter was dealt with comprehensively previously, and the package of materials includes evidence from that earlier rate case, all of which the Board had an opportunity to consider.  

     The purpose to provide it to Mr. Adams was simply to mark it as an exhibit so this Board has it on the report that the evidence was there before, just as Mr. Simpson had indicated it was and as his evidence in-chief indicates.  No more than that.  And I -- I mean Mr. Adams doesn't need to bother spending reading his time in detail because I am not going to put it to him.  

     With respect to the answer to the interrogatory, as I said earlier, we don't see this as a correction at all.  This survey was not commissioned for the purposes of risk management, and I think a favour review of the survey will show that.       

Nevertheless, this copy was also -- this report was also filed in the Natural Gas Forum and would have been available on the public record for all parties.  The only reason it came out was in response, I suppose Mr. Simpson made the comment but it came out as an undertaking from Mr. Adams and we provided him with a copy as soon as we were able to make it.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.  

Anyone else have submissions on the schedule?

     MR. DINGWALL:  With respect to the schedule specifically, I note that Thursday next week is a day set aside for the ADR with respect to NGEIR, which makes my client unavailable on that day.  Also, for the Hydro One transmission consultation, which takes me out of the picture for that day.  

     Following up on Mr. Smith's indication that he doesn't wish to actually use the documents to cross-examine Mr. Adams or present them to him, he merely wants them brought into the record somehow, the question becomes:  Is it appropriate to bring them in the record at this point in time?  I'm not sure what the answer to that is.  

     Can we deal with Mr. Adams, given that these documents are not going to be documents on which he is going to be questioned, in respect to which I think we can.  

MS. NOWINA:  Does anyone else have any submissions? Mr. MacIntosh, I will come back to you.
SUBMISSIONS BY MS. DeMARCO:  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Madam Chair, on behalf of Superior, I find myself in a position where I am fairly confused as to what the intent of providing these materials was, and the potential impact on Mr. Adams' testimony before the Board.  

     If there is no intent to have them used on 

cross-examination, they're dually titled "Cross-examination 

materials of Union Gas Limited".  Certainly there is no    

prohibition of referring to past decisions of the Board or past transcripts of the Board in a final argument, if that was Mr. Smith's -- 

     MR. SMITH:  If that is peoples’ understanding, then I don't even need to put it in the record.  I just wanted to make sure that everybody knew what I was going to say later, in terms of what we've done.  

     But if ‑‑ I mean, just out of an abundance of procedural caution, I mean, I'm happy to tip my hand here.  In my view, a lot of the cross‑examination covered old ground and I could have put that in final argument and pulled out transcripts.  But, in fairness, I want them out there, so that it is marked on the record.  That's it.


MS. DeMARCO:  If I can finish, Madam Chair, my submissions.


There are a number of matters in here, not the least of which is 100 pages of transcript from the 2003‑0063 proceeding.  That I understand is something that Mr. Smith intends to rely on in his final argument, and some similar decisions.


The point I struggle with is, if this is the case, if Mr. Smith intends to proceed down this avenue, and if he, as he indicated, didn't think that this was properly an issue to come before the Board in this proceeding, the time to argue that was on issues day.  I do believe it was argued.


MR. SMITH:  No, I did.  The Board disagreed.


MS. DeMARCO:  Not to rise on a point of procedure here, but I wouldn't mind finishing my statement before we had a little dialogue through you.


So to the extent that the issue was raised on issues day and the Board duly decided that the issue was apportioned and properly on the issues list, the relevance of this material is certainly called into question.


To get to the solution that's been suggested by the Chair, we're happy to proceed in a manner that suits all parties and would make ourselves available in any course.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Does anyone else have submissions?  Mr. MacIntosh.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. MACINTOSH:

MR. MACINTOSH:  Madam Chair, we did not request that the documents, numbered or unnumbered, be withheld from this proceeding.  As we're all well aware, the Panel heard Union's argument on issues day that issue 3.16 shouldn't be on the issues list and the Board ruled on it.


So I believe that submissions we made at the beginning still stand, and that is our request.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. MacIntosh.  If you would give the Panel a moment, please.


[The Board confers]


MS. NOWINA:  From the Board's perspective, the issue of the documents that are in Mr. Smith's cross‑examination booklet, I think it is appropriate that Mr. Adams knows that he's not being cross‑examined on them.  They're on the public record.  So they can be entered as an exhibit as far as we're concerned, or they can be referred to, either one.  Not an issue.


We do think that it's fair for Mr. Adams to have time to look at ‑‑ is it U2.4, the new ‑‑ the study that has been -- the survey that's been entered that he hasn't seen before, besides which the mother hen in me tells me that this group needs to wait until Monday to go on with the proceeding.  I'm sensing some ‑‑


MR. SMITH:  We may be a bit punch drunk.  Just judging by the way I'm reacting and the tone of my voice, I could probably use going home.


[Laughter]


MS. NOWINA:  I think that everyone needs a weekend.  So we will resume Monday.  We will resume at 9:30.  The Board has some matters we have to deal with early in the morning, so we will resume Monday at 9:30 to hear Mr. Adams' examination.  Mr. MacIntosh, just make a note that you said you would have 30 minutes in examination in‑chief.


That's probably an inappropriately lengthy period of time to have an examination in‑chief, so you might want to consider that over the weekend.


MR. MACINTOSH:  I was going to offer, when we started our examination in‑chief, not to go through Mr. Adams' extensive CV, because it's been heard before and hasn't changed a lot since the Enbridge case, and we might speed it up by not going through the whole thing.  But I will mention that Monday.


If it is of any assistance to the Board, we would be prepared to do argument on Tuesday, because people are worried about Thursday, having two other appointments.


MR. SMITH:  That's certainly fine by us.


MS. NOWINA:  Is there anyone who objects to hearing argument on Tuesday if we hear Mr. Adams on Monday?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Madam Chair, the only observation I would make is that, to my understanding, the NGEIR ADR is the whole week, so whether it is Tuesday or Thursday, I don't know that it would make a difference to people's schedules, but other than that...

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you for that clarification.


MR. MACINTOSH:  It is just that Thursday there were two things.  Hydro One, yes.


MS. NOWINA:  Ms. DeMarco.


MS. DeMARCO:  We're in the Board's hands as to the scheduling.


MR. SMITH:  I suppose that if everything else ‑‑ the only thing we haven't done is risk management.  If Mr. Adams and Mr. MacIntosh are prepared to proceed on the issue of risk management on Tuesday, they're the primary proponent of risk management.  On the other side of the coin, we're both ready to roll.  


I think we all would have had to have gone on the M2 and rate design issues, in any event, with the expectation to be ready to go on Tuesday.  So from that perspective, I think it does lead to a Tuesday conclusion.


MS. NOWINA:  That's fine.  All right.  Then we will ‑‑ Ms. DeMarco.


MS. DeMARCO:  Madam Chair, can I ask, just in facilitating efficiency, if we can now attempt to set out an order for Tuesday or Thursday, as the case may be, so that parties can adjust their schedules and decide when to attend, accordingly.


MS. NOWINA:  Do you want to do that now, or would the intervenors like to discuss it amongst themselves and propose an order?  Obviously, we're going with argument in‑chief first, and then last.  I think that is right procedurally, Mr. Smith.


And the other parties can -- if you would like to come up with a proposal that you agree to and give to us Monday morning, then I'm sure that will be fine.


MS. DeMARCO:  If it's fine with the Board, then we will initiate that and try to get something to you.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.


MR. DINGWALL:  One final comment, Madam Chair.  I had one or two questions for Mr. Adams that might involve a limited amount of work offline.  I'm proposing to speak with Mr. Adams in advance of Monday so that if there is work, perhaps it could be done in advance, or ‑‑ so that there is no gap or no potential undertaking delay.  Otherwise, I don't want to ask anything that would require an undertaking; otherwise, our schedule is going to go.


MS. NOWINA:  Is that fine with you, Mr. Adams?


MR. ADAMS:  That's fine.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  We can do that, Mr. Dingwall.  Any other comments?


We're now adjourned until 9:30 Monday morning


MR. SMITH:  Thank you very much.


‑‑‑ Whereupon hearing the adjourned at 3:35 p.m.
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